Dissertationes Forestales 13

Variation of colour and selected physical and mechanical properties related to artificial drying of sawn silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) timber from plantations

> Veikko Möttönen Faculty of Forestry University of Joensuu

> Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Forestry of the University of Joensuu, for public criticism in auditorium BOR 155 of the University of Joensuu, Yliopistokatu 7, Joensuu, on 10th December 2005, at 12 noon.

Variation of colour and selected physical and mechanical properties related to artificial drying of sawn silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) timber from plantations

Veikko Möttönen

Dissertationes Forestales 13

Thesis supervisors: Prof. Erkki Verkasalo, Finnish Forest Research Institute, Joensuu Research Centre, Finland

Prof. Antti Asikainen, Finnish Forest Research Institute, Joensuu Research Centre, Finland

Pre-examiners: Prof. Robert Beauregard, Secondary Wood Products and Processing, Laval University, Québec, Canada

Prof. Nasko Terziev, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Wood Science, Uppsala, Sweden

Opponent: Doc. Jarl-Gunnar Salin, SP Trätek, Stockholm, Sweden

ISSN 1795-7389 ISBN 951-651-114-7 (PDF)

Paper copy printed: Joensuun yliopistopaino, 2005

Publishers: The Finnish Society of Forest Science Finnish Forest Research Institute Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki Faculty of Forestry of the University of Joensuu

Editorial Office: The Finnish Society of Forest Science Unioninkatu 40A, 00170 Helsinki, Finland http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes Möttönen, V. 2005. Variation of colour and selected physical and mechanical properties related to artificial drying of sawn silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) timber from plantations. Dissertationes Forestales 13.

Birch is the most important domestic hardwood species for the wood products industries in Finland. In the near future, the wood from silver birch (Betula pendula Roth) plantations will broadly increase as a source of raw material of saw and veneer logs. Due to the differences in growth rate and silviculture, the raw material from plantations is likely to have characteristics different from those of the wood harvested from naturally regenerated forests. From the point of view of the wood products industries, however, little is known of the quality of the wood of plantation-grown birch trees. In addition, environmental factors such as growing site, felling season and storage of timber are also known to have an influence on the wood properties, but there is little knowledge of the mechanism of those factors and the possibilities to control them. In the further processing of sawn birch timber, the drying of wood is one of the most difficult phases: discolouration, deformation, moisture content gradient, being typical defects for birch timber produced during drying.

The objective of this thesis was to study the drying behaviour and related wood and timber properties of plantation-grown silver birch for the raw material of wood products industries. The wood procurement season and storage of logs before further processing were studied as a source of variation of wood properties and drying behaviour. To study the variation in wood properties and drying behaviour caused by the drying method, the conventional kiln drying (heat and vent drying) and vacuum drying were used, which are the most common drying methods for sawn birch timber. On the subject of drying method, wood colour, shrinkage, weight density, final moisture content, Brinell hardness and equilibrium moisture content were studied. The role of proanthocyanidins (condensed tannins) and their polymerisation as a chemical background for the discolouration was studied.

Owing to the variation in the wood properties, the drying behaviour was found to differ between the wood procurement seasons. In addition, due to the low temperature used during the first steps of the conventional drying process, the drying conditions in the kiln differed between the processes. The initial moisture content of the wood, basic density and proanthocyanidin content were found to change with the wood procurement season. These changes were consequences of the physiological alterations in birch trees with the seasons and they were found to have an influence on colour, density, equilibrium moisture content and Brinell hardness of wood. The mechanism of the discolouration of wood differed between the drying methods. Regarding the conventionally dried wood, the discolouration was the most intensive for summer-felled wood while the vacuum-dried wood discoloured the most intensively when it was felled in winter. In summer-felled and winter-felled wood the storage of timber as logs increased the discolouration of the wood during drying.

The increase in the use of plantation-grown sawn birch timber will increase the variation of wood properties, which has to be taken into account during the different phases of the further processing.

Keywords: *Betula pendula* Roth, conventional drying, density, hardness, plantation forests, proanthocyanidins, shrinkage, vacuum drying, wood colour, wood drying

Author's address: University of Joensuu, Faculty of Forestry, P.O.Box 111, FIN-80101 Joensuu, Finland. E-mail: veikko.mottonen@joensuu.fi.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study has been funded by the Academy of Finland through the Forest Cluster Research Programme "Wood Wisdom" under the title "Quality of dried wood of cultivated silver birch", by the Faculty of Forestry of the University of Joensuu, and by Puumiesten ammattikasvatussäätiö. I am grateful to these sources of funding for making this work possible.

I am deeply grateful to my supervisors, Prof. Erkki Verkasalo and Prof. Antti Asikainen, for valuable guidance in all stages of the work. I am likewise most grateful to Ms. Katri Luostarinen, who initially recruited me to research of wood technology, instructed me in the field of wood colour and chemistry, and was the co-author in three papers of my thesis. I gratefully acknowledge Prof. Henrik Heräjärvi for the valuable suggestions in the manuscript and co-operation during several years. Prof. Nasko Terziev from the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden, and Prof. Robert Beauregard from the University of Laval, Canada, are acknowledged for their careful work in reviewing the manuscript and for the constructive suggestions. I also acknowledge the careful and laboritous field and laboratory work contributed by Heikki Pijpponen, Matti Heiskanen, Leena Kuusisto and Hannu Koivunen. I acknowledge Martti Ruuskanen from UPM-Kymmene Ltd. for providing me the study material, Keijo Silfsten from North Karelia Polytechnic for sawing the logs, and Timo Aavakallio from YTI Research Centre, Mikkeli Polytechnic for carrying out the vacuum dryings. The Faculty of Forestry provided me excellent working facilities. I thank Prof. Olli Saastamoinen and Prof. Matti Kärkkäinen for encouraging me to finish my thesis, David Gritten for correcting the language of this thesis and Teppo Naakka giving me valuable help with the layout of the papers. Many special thanks go to Erkki Järvinen for friendship of many years. Many thanks also to other colleagues at the Faculty of Forestry and to "wood research group"-members at the Chemistry Department. I would also like to thank Prof. Timo Kärki from the Lappeenranta University of Technology for innovative co-operation.

Many special thanks go to my parents, Vieno and Heikki Möttönen, my sisters and brothers and their families, and my parents-in-law for their support and interest. Finally, I would like to express my warmest thanks to my wife Sirja and my children, Markus, Niklas and Melissa for their love, patience and support.

Joensuu, November 2005

Veikko Möttönen

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This thesis is a summary of the following articles, which are referred to in the text by the Roman numerals I-V:

- I Möttönen, V. and Luostarinen, K. 2004. Discolouration of sawn birch (*Betula pendula*) timber from plantation forests during drying: Effect of growing site, felling season and storage of logs on discolouration. Baltic Forestry 10(2): 31-38. http://www.balticforestry.mi.lt/
- II Möttönen, V. and Luostarinen, K. 2005. Discolouration of sawn birch (*Betula pendula*) timber from plantation forests during drying: The role of proanthocyanidins (condensed tannins) in discolouration of birch wood. Baltic Forestry 11(1): 13-20. http://www.balticforestry.mi.lt/
- III Möttönen, V. and Luostarinen, K. 2006. Variation in density and shrinkage of birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) timber from plantations and naturally regenerated forests. Forest Prod. J. (In press). http://www.forestprod.org/
- IV Möttönen, V. 2005. Variation in drying behaviour and final moisture content of wood during conventional low temperature drying and vacuum drying of *Betula pendula* timber. Drying Technology. (Accepted). http://www.taylorandfrancisgroup.com/
- Wöttönen, V., Heräjärvi, H., Koivunen, H. and Lindblad, J. 2004. Influence of felling season, drying method and within-tree location on the Brinell hardness and equilibrium moisture content of wood from 27-35-year-old *Betula pendula*. Scand. J. For. Res. 19: 241-249. doi:10.1080/02827580410029327

In papers I, II, and III, manuscripts were written jointly by the authors, while V. Möttönen, regarding the plantation-grown birch trees, was solely responsible for collecting the material and analysing the results. In paper V, the materials were collected and the manuscript was written jointly by all authors, while V. Möttönen was solely responsible for analysing the results.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 Background	7
1.2 Sources of birch timber in wood products industries	8
1.3 Drying of sawn birch timber	10
1.4 Wood colour and discolouration	11
1.5 Physical and mechanical properties of wood related to further processing of bird	ch
timber	14
1.6 The objective of the study	15
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
2.1 Study materials	17
2.2 Drying experiments	18
2.3 Spectral measurements and chemical analyses of wood	19
2.4 Analyses of the physical and mechanical properties of wood	20
2.5 Statistical methods	20
3. RESULTS	20
3.1 Effects of wood procurement season, storage, and growing site on discolouration	n of
timber during drying (I)	20
3.2 The role of proanthocyanidins in discolouration (II)	21
3.3 Density and shrinkage of timber during drying (III)	22
3.4 Effect of wood properties and drying conditions in the kiln on drying behaviour	and
final moisture content (IV)	23
3.5 Brinell hardness and equilibrium moisture content of wood (V)	23
4. DISCUSSION	24
4.1 Reliability, validity and ability of generalisation of the results	24
4.2 Variation in initial moisture content and drying behaviour of timber	26
4.3 Proanthocyanidin concentration in wood	27
4.4 Discolouration of timber during drying	28
4.5 Physical and mechanical properties of wood	31
5. CONCLUSIONS	33
REFERENCES	35
ARTICLES I-V	

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Hardwood species are important raw materials both in the pulp and paper industries and wood products industries throughout the world. In Finland, the total use of round hardwood timber in wood products industries was 1.73 million m³ in 2003, including the sawmilling industry (0.22 million m³) and the plywood and veneer industries (1.51 million m³) (Peltola 2004). Of the total production of sawn hardwood timber amounting to 100 000 m³ in Finland, further-processing wood products industries used 84 000 m³ while 16 000 m³ were exported.

Silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) and European white birch (*B. pubescens* Ehrh.) are the most important domestic hardwood species for wood products industries in Finland. They cover the majority of the use of hardwoods; only 10 000-20 000 m³ from the total annual consumption of hardwood logs were estimated to be of alder (*Alnus incana*, *A.* glutinosa) (Kärki 2000) and also aspen (*Populus tremula*) (Verkasalo 1999). However, compared to the share of birch trees of the total growing stock volume (15.2%) and to the total production of sawn softwood timber (13.3 million m³) (Peltola 2004), the production of sawn birch timber in Finland is still relatively small when compared to softwood timber. The main reason for the small proportion of birch in sawing industries is the poor usability of birch as a structural timber: birch is susceptible to decay and its tensile strength is low in relation to the density (Kärkkäinen 2003). In addition, the growing stock of birch is mainly in mixed stands dominated by conifers, which makes the true supply, dependent on the markets of softwood logs and the sorting of sawable birch logs from the timber flow, expensive.

Usually, the two main birch species growing in Finland are considered not to have significant differences of practical importance in wood properties, although there are considerable differences in their growth and yield capacity (e.g., Heräjärvi 2002). At present, main end-uses of sawn birch timber in Finland are in furniture, parquet and edge-glued panel production (Luostarinen and Verkasalo 2000). In addition, smaller amounts of birch are used for decorative and practical items, tool handles and kitchen utensils, as typical examples (Salmi 1987). Both in the furniture and parquet industries, several competitive hardwood species are used that have wood properties rather similar to birch; for example beech (*Fagus sp.*), maple (*Acer sp.*) and ash (*Fraxinus sp.*). The most important competitor of birch in both the furniture and parquet industries in Europe is beech (*Fagus sylvatica*), which is comparable regarding wood colour, density and hardness (Wagenführ 1996).

In furniture production, birch is used as solid wood especially in components of chairs, tables and cabinets (Salmi 1987). In shelf products, solid wood is used less and birch is most often used as a thin veneer coating on the surface of particle board or medium-density fibreboard. Excluding solid-wood parquets, birch is used only for the surface layer of parquet products, while the middle layer is most often cross-glued spruce and the bottom layer is a spruce ply (Koponen 1997). The surface layer of parquet is sawn from dried boards or billets to a thickness of approximately 4 mm by using band-, circular- or frame saws. The surface layer of a single parquet board (approx. 190 mm \times 2300 mm) is typically achieved by using three rows of timber strips, although one or two solid looking strips are used as well. Quality requirements for the aesthetic appearance and for the resistance to

wear are high especially for the premium quality classes in furniture and parquet products (cf., Auvinen et al. 2002, Forsén and Tarvainen 2003). In this sense, the homogenous colour, the absence of colour defects and the adequate physical properties of wood are extremely important for the raw material used for the birch wood products.

In further processing of sawn birch timber, several factors have effects on the quality of semi-finished and end products. Most of the factors are associated with drying of timber: the entrepreneurs and industries dealing with birch consider the drying of sawn timber to be the most difficult problem in further processing, as concluded by Kivistö et al. (1999). Similar problems were found also in a survey on the Swedish hardwood industries: deformations, discolouration, tension, moisture content variation, checks and collapse were found to be the most frequent difficulties the entrepreneurs are encountering in the hardwood drying (Stenudd 2002).

Regarding the furniture, parquet and edge-glued panel production of birch, the most important problems related to drying are discolouration and deformations of sawn timber. Typically, discolouration appears in the interior of timber, while the surface layer to a depth of 1-5 mm remains light (Luostarinen and Luostarinen 2001). However, the discolouration occurs occasionally in sawn birch and the reasons for the variation in colour are not known precisely. The uneven discolouration reduces the quality of the final product and results in a loss of value due to downgrading and increase in the amount of waste (Luostarinen and Verkasalo 2000). In addition, deformations and their variation in sawn birch timber are large. Deformations mainly comprise uneven shrinkage, warp and twist (Keinänen and Tahvanainen 1995). Reasons for strong deformations are the variations in shrinkage within sawn timber pieces caused by radial differences in density, internal stresses, knots and varying proportions of juvenile wood. Deformations increase the loss of raw material during the further processing after drying. In this respect the importance of drying of sawn timber is emphasised.

Environmental factors, such as growing site, felling season and storage of logs between felling and processing are known to have an influence on the properties of birch wood (Luostarinen and Verkasalo 2000). However, little is known of the mechanism of those factors and the possibilities to control them. In addition, there is a lack of knowledge of the interaction between the drying method and the factors affecting the critical birch wood properties. If the abovementioned factors could be controlled in a proper way, the drying quality of timber could be increased which in turn would increase the profitability of wood products industries using birch as raw material.

1.2 Sources of birch timber in wood products industries

Traditionally, mainly large-diameter logs have been used in the sawmilling industry as the raw material for sawn birch timber (Heräjärvi 2002). However, few hardwood sawmills using large-sized logs have been established during the last twenty years and the older ones that are working use largely outdated technology. Since the 1990s some new hardwood sawmills based on sawing of small-sized birch logs have been established or are in the planning stage (Heräjärvi 2002). The reason for this development is the increasing supplies of small-sized logs from forest thinnings and from abroad (mainly European Russia). Due to the rapid and automated sawing technology in modern sawmills, the small-sized logs are sawn directly into billets for furniture production or they are sawn into boards by the double-cut method to the thickness of 25-50 mm (Luostarinen and Verkasalo 2000). In

general, possibilities of affecting the quality of sawn birch timber by sawing method are very limited for small-sized logs (Lindblad et al. 2003).

To date, the main source of birch saw logs has been the naturally regenerated mature silver birch trees from softwood-dominated or pure birch stands on mineral soils. From the point of view of the sawmilling industry, the technical properties of those saw logs have been good especially in the butt log section (Heräjärvi 2001). Simultaneously, the large-diameter, high-quality logs are the main source of raw material also for the veneer and plywood industries, which has contributed to the large demand and high price of birch saw logs.

In the near future, plantations will grow in importance as a source of raw material supply for the mechanical wood industries in Finland, both for softwoods and hardwoods. Silver birch has been planted on a larger scale for almost 40 years in Finland, amounting to the current area of ca. 200 000 hectares (Peltola 2004). The primary objective of planting birch has been to provide raw material for the veneer and plywood industries. Birch plantations have mainly been established on fertile forest regeneration areas and on abandoned agricultural fields (Raulo 1978). The average growth of silver birch on afforested fields corresponds to *Oxalis myrtillus* site type (OMT-type) (Kinnunen and Aro 1996, Saramäki and Hytönen 2004), which is a moist upland forest site type of high fertility (cf., Kuusipalo 1996). Because silver birch grows commonly in natural forests and also on sites of low fertility, it is obvious that the average fertility of plantations is higher than that of naturally regenerated birch forests. Compared with naturally regenerated birch stands, the initial development of birch plantations has been faster and the regeneration has been more secure (Saksa 1998). In addition, the silviculture in the plantation forests is often more intensive than in the naturally regenerated forests, contributing to the higher growth.

Owing to the differences in growth rate and silviculture, the raw material from plantations is likely to have characteristics differing considerably from those of the wood harvested from naturally regenerated forests. Fast-growing trees tend to produce wood that is lower in density than the average trees (Hakkila 1966). Furthermore, it is obvious that the trees harvested from birch plantations will be younger (rotation will be shorter) than those harvested from naturally regenerated forests (Niemistö 1995). In addition, the breeding of the forest plantation material is based mainly on the productivity and external properties of the trees instead of the wood properties (cf., Lepistö 1981). Owing to the shorter rotations, plantation-grown wood is generally known to have a greater proportion of juvenile wood than the wood from naturally regenerated stands (Zobel and Sprague 1998). The role of juvenile wood is, however, little known for the quality and value of birch wood.

Overall, little has been studied about the quality of wood from plantation-grown birch trees from the point of view of the wood products industries. So far, the research of wood quality of plantations in Finland is restricted mainly to softwood species. Especially the poor quality of plantation-grown Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) wood on former agricultural fields (Kontunen-Soppela et al. 1997, Hynönen and Hytönen 1998, Hytönen 1999, Nurmi 2002) has led to doubt as to whether the quality of plantation-grown birch wood is also below that of the quality of wood from naturally regenerated birch trees. Some approximations of the wood quality in plantation-grown birch trees can be made based on the external quality of stems (e.g., Niemistö et al. 1997, Lehtimäki et al. 2002, Lindblad et al. 2003, Saramäki and Hytönen 2004). On average, the stems of plantation-grown birch trees. The number of knots, especially sound knots, is also greater in the saw log section of plantation-grown birch trees.

being the lowest on moist and rich mineral soils which are the most suitable for growth of silver birch.

1.3 Drying of sawn birch timber

Drying of sawn timber for high quality is one of the most important challenges associated with further processing of birch wood. Drying in the open air is the traditional way of drying and it is still used to a considerable extent in the wood products industries, especially for the pre-drying of sawn timber (Keinänen and Tahvanainen 1995, Luostarinen and Verkasalo 2000). The through-sawn birch timber, which still has the bark bound on it, is stacked and covered and allowed to dry for several months or up to two years. This procedure usually reduces the development of deformations and produces evenly coloured wood. On the other hand, the slowness of the drying is a disadvantage from the economical point of view as it ties up a great deal of capital to the raw material. In addition, the drying rate is dependent on ambient climatic conditions, which may vary to a large extent within and between years. Usually, sawn timber dries more quickly in spring and early summer than sawn timber going into stacks in late summer, with the drying almost ceasing during the winter (Esping 1996). In all, air drying is a largely uncontrollable drying method for quality and it can be used to dry the wood material down to about 15-20% moisture content (MC) at the lowest, which is, generally speaking, not sufficient for the requirements of the wood products industries using birch.

At present, most of the sawn birch timber is dried artificially; with conventional kiln drying (heat and vent drying) being the most common method. Regarding the drying quality, only batch kilns so far have proved suitable for birch timber to reach the standards required by the joinery industries (Isomäki et al. 2002). The drying processes are controlled mostly by using time-based schedules, which have been developed based on the known average drying properties of wood (Peltoranta 2001). During conventional kiln drying of birch, the low temperature drying ($<45^{\circ}$ C) is used above the wood fibre saturation point (FSP) in order to avoid the discolouration of wood; even as low as 30°C dry bulb temperature is used during drying above 20% MC (Stenudd 2002). The medium temperature drying ($45-95C^{\circ}$) is then used during the rest of the drying process by gradually increasing the drying temperature. The wet bulb depression is kept low in the capillary region of moisture content to avoid checks and casehardening (Isomäki et al. 2002). However, even mild schedules occasionally produce discoloured wood (Luostarinen et al. 2002). The duration of drying birch in a conventional kiln varies between three and five weeks.

During recent years, vacuum drying of sawn birch timber, as being a rapid drying method, has increased markedly in Finland. Vacuum drying is based on the fact that the boiling point of water is substantially lowered when the atmospheric pressure over the wood is lowered; consequently, the water in wood is boiling and is drawn out of the wood (Chen 1997). However, boiling does not occur simultaneously throughout the wood. At the beginning, water boils on the surface of sawn timber and the boiling front retreats inside the wood as drying proceeds (Chen and Lamb 2001). Moreover, contrary to conventional drying, moisture is removed in vacuum drying mainly in the longitudinal direction and it moves in a steam form (Chen 1997). Discolouration of sawn hardwood timber is less with vacuum drying than with other artificial drying methods due to the small oxygen concentration and the short drying time as a result of the lower boiling point of water

(Charrier et al. 1992). The duration of vacuum drying of birch is three to five days. Regarding the drying quality, however, of the selection of suitable process parameters to control the vacuum drying process is extremely important (Ressel 2003). It was found in an industry survey that none of the studied industrial vacuum kilns was capable of controlling drying conditions with acceptable accuracy to meet the demands which the European Drying Group, a network consisting of representatives from European timber trade, timber processing industries, research and education authorities, has set for the exclusive quality class (Källander 2003). Although the drying quality of birch is usually high, similar problems with discolouration to conventional drying occur by using vacuum drying (Lahtinen and Tolonen 2001). In vacuum-dried wood, however, the darkest layer also may appear near the board surface, in addition to the strongly discoloured centre of the board.

The heat transfer to the sawn timber is lower in a vacuum than in the atmospheric pressure; therefore, the use of additional humid air or steam (Ressel 2003) or dielectric field (Harris and Taras 1984, Smith et al. 1994) during drying is essential to keep the continuous vacuum drying process efficient. Radio frequency vacuum (RFV) drying combines vacuum drying with radio-frequency heating (Milota and Wengert 1995). An application of RFV drying called high frequency vacuum (HFV) drying has been under investigation on birch wood at the Lahti Polytechnic, Finland (Auvinen 2001). In this method, the continuous heat transfer to wood is obtained by using a dielectric field. The checking of birch wood is unactual, and the colour remains light and uniform with this rapid drying method; birch wood can be dried in less than ten hours. The disadvantages of the method are the low volumetric capacity of the kiln, the sometimes uneven drying quality due to the varying penetrability of electromagnetic waves through the wood and the high consumption of electricity.

High temperature drying (>100°C) is successfully used for American white birch (*Betula papyrifera*) (Erickson et al. 1984, Larson et al. 1986), but the preliminary results with sawn birch timber in Finland, especially concerning the wood colour, have been inconsistent (cf., Sonninen 2001). Typically, high temperature drying of birch produces strongly red-coloured wood material because of the steaming used to transfer the heat to wood and prevent the casehardening of sawn timber. Steaming is typically used for the colour control with hardwoods, e.g., with beech and walnut (Burtin et al. 2000), giving a reddish colour for the dried wood, but it is not a usable method with sawn birch timber due to the uneven and glaring colour of the end product.

An application of high temperature drying is the compression drying method (Method for... 1963), where the sawn timber is, in modern applications, compressed between perforated aluminium plates during the drying process at high temperature to keep the timber straight (Ressel 2003). Due to the compression during drying, the sawn timber is straight and has an increased density, especially in the surface layer of the boards, leading to the improved surface hardness, strength and net material savings of 15-20 %. Using high temperature drying, sawn birch timber can be dried in a day.

1.4 Wood colour and discolouration

The human eye can detect electromagnetic waves in the visible light region, for the wavelength of approximately 380-780 nm (Hunt 1998). This is a small portion of the electromagnetic waves in space. The range of visible light is seen by the human eye as a spectrum, which is a distribution of colours. The ability to see the spectrum is based on

stimulating the retina in the human eye by the specific wavelengths (Hunt 1998). An object absorbs part of a light from the light source and reflects the remaining light. The light reflected from an object is a mixture of light at various wavelengths. The light of a specific wavelength absorbed by the object is caused by chromophores - the side chains of the pigment molecules (Hon and Minemura 2001).

The colour characteristics of wood depend on the chemical components that interact with light. Typical molecules having chromophore bindings in wood are lignin, below the wavelength of 500 nm, and phenolic extractives such as tannins, flavonoids, stilbenes and quinines, above the wavelength of 500 nm (Hon and Minemura 2001). Cellulose and hemicelluloses do not absorb light in the visible region. Due to differences in composition of wood components, the colour of fresh, untreated wood varies between different species, between different trees of the same species and even within a tree. Within a species wood colour can vary due to the genetic factors (Rink and Phelps 1989, Mosedale et al. 1996) and environmental conditions (Phelps et al. 1982, Wilkins and Stamp 1990).

In discolouration, chemical reactions take place in wood, changing the number and type of chromophores. Both microbial and non-microbial factors cause discolouration, i.e., changes in natural colour of wood in sawn timber (Amburgey 1994). Microbial discolourations are caused primarily by mould, sap stain or decay fungi. In addition, bacteria may cause discolourations called "wetwood" in hardwoods (e.g., Ward and Zeikus 1980). Microbial discolourations may already have developed in the living tree as a consequence of diminished resistance to fungi or they may develop in the sawn timber until the moisture content falls below 20%. Prolonged storage of saw logs or sawn timber, especially in summer time, increases the risk of microbial discolouration (e.g. Verkasalo 1993, Corbo et al. 2001). Development of microbial discolouration may be hindered by ensuring that the storage times and the associated physiological conditions of logs and sawn timber are not adequate for microbial infections.

Discolouration in a living tree is generally associated with heartwood formation. Different kinds of polymerisation of phenolic compounds are found to be involved in the process of heartwood formation, e.g., in the woods of ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) (Frey-Wyssling and Bosshard 1959), walnut (*Junglans nigra, J. regia*) (Burtin et al. 1998) and western red cedar (*Thuja plicata* Donn) (Johansson et al. 2000). However, birch does not develop heartwood at all (Piispanen and Saranpää 2001), or not until the trees become very old (Kärkkäinen 2003). Instead, the discolourations in the pith of the stem and in the dead branches, already typical for birch trees at the age of thirty years, are connected with the microbial invasion (Hallaksela and Niemistö 1998). The darkened wood around the pith is thought to be caused by the stresses of physiological or biological origins, which have increased the number of malformed and parenchyma cells (Pape 2002). Red heart of white birch (*Betula papyrifera* Marsh.) is shown to be an enzymatic oxidation of glycosides and catechin caused by fungi (Siegle 1967). However, the darkened wood around the pith is not necessarily decayed and the timber around the darkened wood is most often suitable for veneer and sawn timber production.

Discolourations caused by the drying process are those which actually occur during drying and are mainly caused by non-microbial factors (Amburgey 1994). Drying temperatures above the fibre saturation point have proved to be important factors for the interior discolouration of initially light-coloured sawn hardwood timber. The critical temperature for discolouration of hard maple (*Acer saccharum*), which should not exceed the average moisture content of sawn timber of 20%, is about 43°C (Smith et al. 2002, Yeo and Smith 2003). However, the same temperature is only high enough to stop the growth of

the discolouring fungi but not high enough to kill them (Taylor 1997). During lowtemperature drying, the conditions in wood are convenient for enzymatic activity in the living parenchyma cells above fibre saturation point. For example, the highest enzymatic activity related to colour changes of wood was found with Douglas fir sapwood at the temperature of 35°C (Laver and Musbah 1996). As a consequence of the enzymatic activity, the so-called chemical precursors of discolouration are developed (Wengert 1997). Later in the drying process, these precursors react with air and form new oxidised polymers which are typically dark in colour. In the precursor-phase, the discolouring chemicals are colourless and their presence is difficult or impossible to detect. Several pre-treatment methods have been studied to prevent the enzyme related discolouration in both softwood and hardwood sawn timber (Kreber et al. 1994, Kreber and Haslett 1997, Kreber et al. 2001, Schmidt et al. 2001). In general, the drying techniques which are developed to reduce or eliminate discolouration are based more on accidentally discovered methods rather than understanding the causes of discolouration (Taylor 1997).

After lignin, the most common polyphenols occurring in woody plants are proanthocyanidins (condensed tannins) (Haslam 1975). They have several biological activities in plants from toxicity to biological antioxidants, but their main characteristic is that they bind and precipitate proteins. The oxidation and condensation of phenolic extractives of wood are known to produce insoluble coloured compounds, which are seen in wood as discolouration. Luostarinen and Möttönen (2004) found a correlation between proanthocyanidin concentration and colour of birch wood in mature birch trees. Catechin, a precursor of proanthocyanidins, was found in the light-coloured interior of birch boards but not in the surface layer which was strongly discoloured (Asikainen et al. 2001). It is also one of the predominant phenolics present in green birch wood (Hiltunen et al. 2003). Catechin also was supposed to be involved in the discolouration of wood in ilomba (*Pycnanthus angolensis* Exell) (Yazaki et al. 1985), western hemlock (*Tsuga heterophylla*) (Hrutfiord et al. 1985, Kreber and Byrne 1994, 1996) and amabilis fir (*Abies amabilis*) (Kreber and Byrne 1994, 1996).

Microscopic studies have revealed that the discoloured chemicals in wood are concentrated in ray parenchyma cells containing globules from crystalline to amorphous pigments (Bois 1970, McMillen 1975, McGinnes and Rosen 1984, Forsyth and Amburgey 1991, Stenudd 2002, Koch et al. 2003, Straze et al. 2003). These globules subsequently turn dark upon exposure to high temperatures and slow drying conditions (Forsyth and Amburgey 1991). Because of the closeness of wood rays to each other, the discolouration appears to cover the general area (Bois 1970).

Many environmental factors such as solar radiation, moisture and temperature cause weathering or oxidative degradation of wooden products during their normal use; these ambient phenomena can eventually change the chemical, physical, optical and mechanical properties of wood surfaces (Hon 2001). All chemical components of wood are susceptible to degradation by sunlight or ultraviolet light, which typically leads to discolouration, loss of gloss and lightness, and roughening of surfaces. Typically, birch wood darkens and turns yellow even in diffuse light conditions indoors if coatings with ultraviolet protection are not used (Puisten sisäverhousten... 1995). Some newly developed finishes in which the absorbance characteristics are shifted more towards the longer wavelengths may better provide the colour stabilization of wood compared with the standard products (Rogez 2002). With regard to using additional finishes, however, the natural elasticity, which is considered as an advantageous property of the surface layer of wooden products, should be taken into account.

1.5 Physical and mechanical properties of wood related to further processing of birch timber

The suitability of birch as a raw material for the wood products industries is based on the homogeneity and equable structure and colour of wood (Salmi 1987). In relation to the density of wood, also the strength and wearing properties of birch are adequate, e.g., for many furniture and parquet products (e.g., Jalava 1945, Wagenführ 1996, Heräjärvi 2002).

In earlier studies, the average basic density for mature *B. pendula* wood from naturally regenerated stands has been 501 kg m⁻³ (Hakkila 1966) and 512 kg m⁻³ (Heräjärvi 2004). In the same studies, the average basic density of *B. pubescens* was 480 kg m⁻³. Due to the diffuse-porous structure and low proportion of late wood in both species, the variation in density is low. The most important exception is the fast grown juvenile wood which has lower density than the mature wood and decreasingly in young trees may affect density (see: Zobel & van Buijtenen 1989, Dunham et al. 1999). However, the proportion of juvenile wood and the difference in the properties of juvenile and mature wood is little studied for Finnish birch species. Earlier, basic density of 420 kg m⁻³ (Anttonen et al. 2002) and 429 kg m⁻³ (Sterner and Hedenberg 2003) was measured for *B. pendula* saplings of six and eleven years old, respectively. In accordance with the juvenile effect, the basic density of plantation-grown, young (ca. 30 years old) silver birch trees was found to correlate negatively with the width of the annual ring (Verkasalo 1998).

Environmental factors during the growth of a tree to some extent may affect the wood properties by changing the growth rate of wood. Among hardwoods, response of wood to environmental factors varies for different anatomic types of wood species. In the diffuse-porous wood category, growth rate has very little influence on wood properties (Zhang 1995). Theoretically, wood density should decrease from poor sites to fertile sites, because of the production of larger and more frequent vessels in a matrix of relatively thin walled fibres on high-fertility sites (Zobel and van Buijtenen 1989). However, the basic density of mature birch wood was found to increase with increasing fertility (Hakkila 1966). According to Verkasalo (1998), basic density of young plantation-grown silver birch trees growing on abandoned agricultural fields was lower than that presented in earlier studies for birch trees from naturally regenerated forests. In the same study, the ring width of the birch trees growing on forest sites. The relationship between basic density and ring width is strongly affected by the proportion of juvenile wood, which should be taken into consideration (Hakkila 1966).

There exists a high correlation between the basic density and Brinell hardness of birch wood (Kucera 1984, Heräjärvi 2004). According to Heräjärvi (2004) the average Brinell hardness of mature *B. pendula* and *B. pubescens* wood is 23.4 MPa and 20.5 MPa, respectively. Compared to other hardwood species commonly used in the furniture and parquet industries the Brinell hardness of birch is low. However, it is higher than the Brinell hardness of Finnish softwood species (Jalava 1945, Kärkkäinen 2003).

On average, the weight density (at 12-15% MC) of *B. pendula* wood is 630 kg m⁻³ (Wagenführ 1996). The average shrinkage from the green condition to 0% MC of *B. pendula* wood is 5.3% in radial, 7.8% in tangential and 0.6% in longitudinal direction. The rate of drying can affect shrinkage of wood for some wood species (Stevens 1963, Wood Handbook... 1999). Typically, the shrinkage tends to decrease with increased drying rate. In addition, the shrinkage of wood is dependent on the extractive content of wood being the greater the lower is the extractive content (Kärkkäinen 2003).

As a hygroscopic material, wood will give up or take in water vapour from the air surrounding it until it reaches a balance with its environment. The responsiveness of sawn and dried birch wood to ambient relative humidity is a concern because it is in connection with dimensional changes of solid wood both during the further processing and in the end products (e.g., Isomäki et al. 2002). At a given temperature, wood will reach the equilibrium moisture content (EMC) that depends on the relative humidity at that temperature in the physical environment (Keey et al. 1999). The moisture content of wood as a function of relative humidity produces a sorption curve. However, there exists a hysteresis; the desorption curve attained by drying and adsorption curve attained by wetting are not identical, i.e. the moisture content of wood is higher when the equilibrium moisture content is attained by desorption than when it is attained by adsorption. Furthermore, drying of green (saturated) wood produces an irreversible loss of capacity for water or hygroscopicity (Keey et al. 1999). Responsiveness of wood to environmental changes is also dependent on the temperature at which wood is dried.

1.6 The objective of the study

The purpose of this study was, on one hand, to study the basic wood properties and colour of plantation-grown silver birch and, on the other hand, to study the behaviour of that wood during artificial drying. The source of raw material plays an important role in the quality which the end products will have, because the basis of the material properties already exists in the growing stock's wood properties. In this respect, the silver birch trees growing on plantation stands were selected for the source of raw material for this study, because their wood properties are not well enough known and their proportion as raw material of the wood products industries is predicted to greatly increase in the near future. Regarding birch timber, the properties which the semi-finished and end products will have are dependent on the important role of the drying of the wood. Drying induces discolouration and shrinkage in wood and obviously has additional effects on other physical and mechanical properties. Presumably, if the wood properties of plantation-grown birch timber differ from those of naturally grown birch timber, also the response to drying differs. Accordingly, the main objective of this thesis was to study the drying behaviour and related wood and timber properties of plantation-grown silver birch for the raw material of the wood products industries (Table 1).

The reasons for the variation in the wood properties and drying behaviour were studied in more detail in the individual articles. Regarding birch timber, variations in wood properties also can occur due to the wood procurement season, storage and sawing practice. Traditionally, birch trees were only harvested in winter, but the arrangements of modern wood procurement and the process technology of the modern wood products industries call for harvesting timber almost throughout the year. Due to transportation logistics and the need for buffer stocks of timber in production plants, for saw logs it may take several weeks from the felling date, to the moment before they are sawn into boards and dried. The storage of harvested, fresh timber is at risk of an increase in the variation of the properties of the semi-finished and end products. In addition, phenological events and physiological processes which exhibit seasonal pattern in hardwood species are known to have an effect on wood properties. Accordingly, the wood procurement season and the storage of logs before further processing, were studied as a source of variation in the wood properties and drying behaviour of wood.

		OBJECTIVE OF THE THESIS		
Drying behaviour a	nd related wood and timber pro	pperties of plantation grown birc	the raw material of wood	products industries
Behavio	ur of wood during drying	Ba	asic physical and mechanical pr	roperties of wood
	OBJECT	IVES OF THE INDIVIDUAL AR	LUCLES	
ARTICLE I	ARTICLE II	ARTICLE III	ARTICLE IV	ARTICLE V
Variation and mechanism of discolouration of wood during drying	Chemical background for the variation in discolour- ation of wood during drying	Variation in the density and shrinkage of birch wood	Variation in drying condi- tions in the kiln, drying behaviour and final mois- ture content of sawn timber	Mechanical and physical properties of dried sawn timber as raw material for furniture and parquet industries
Differences in discolouration during drying between growing sites, wood procurement seasons and storage periods of logs	Variation of proanthocya- nidin concentration of wood between wood pro- curement seasons in fresh and dried wood and during drying	Density and its variation in fresh and dried wood from plantations and natural regenerations	Differences in drying be- haviour (drying time, dry- ing rate) caused by the differences in drying con- ditions (temperature, relative humidity) and initial moisture content	Variation in Brinell hard- ness and equilibrium moisture content of wood between wood procure- ment seasons, drying methods, and within-tree locations
Differences in discolouration between drying methods	Differences in proantho- cyanidin concentration between drying methods	Variation in shrinkage between wood procure- ment seasons and drying methods	Differences in final mois- ture content of wood caused by the differences in drying conditions and initial moisture content	Interaction between the Brinell hardness and basic density in plantation-grown birch wood
Within-board appearance of discolouration	Connection between polymerisation of proanthocyanidins and wood colour			

 Table 1. Objectives of the thesis and of the individual articles.

To study the variation in wood properties and drying behaviour caused by the drying method, the conventional kiln drying (heat and vent drying) and vacuum drying, which are the most common artificial drying methods for birch wood, were used for the drying of the study materials. On the subject of drying method, wood colour, shrinkage, weight density, final moisture content, Brinell hardness and equilibrium moisture content were studied. Because the wood properties are known to differ after drying in different parts of an individual board, the surface layer and the inner wood of boards were analysed separately regarding wood colour and moisture content during and after drying.

The thesis is a summary of five articles with scientifically verified results, completed with the current knowledge of practice as well as the author's personal research judgements. The articles form an assembly starting from the discolouration of birch wood during conventional and vacuum drying, continuing with the investigation of chemical background of discolouration in the second paper. The third paper deals with the density and shrinkage of wood. The fourth paper approaches the effects of wood properties and drying conditions in the kiln on the drying behaviour and drying result of sawn timber. Finally, Brinell hardness and equilibrium moisture content of wood are discussed in the fifth paper. The objectives of the individual articles in detail are presented in table 1.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Study materials

The study was primarily conducted and papers I-V were written based on two silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) stands of plantation forests located in North Karelia, Eastern Finland (62°18' N, 30°48' E and 62°46' N, 30°39 E). By the site type, the forests were a typical forest regeneration area of high fertility *Oxalis-Myrtillus*-type (OMT) and a typical afforested abandoned agricultural field. On both study sites, the soil type was fine sand, which is an aeolian deposit of postglacial feature (Haavisto 1983). A total of sixty dominant trees were selected as sample trees. From both stands, ten sample trees were felled during each of the three seasons in 1999, on 3-4 June, 16-17 September and 3-4 December (Table 2). Two logs, 2.5 m in length, were cut from each tree. The first log was cut beginning from the butt of the tree. The upper log usually started at the upper end of the butt log. In a few cases, when the diameter of the trunk allowed, the upper log was cut so that the top diameter was set at 20 cm. The logs from the first five trees from both sites were sawn within a few days after felling. The remaining five logs were stored for eight weeks in the open-air in the yard of the sawmill before they were sawn using a Kara-110 circular saw.

In the first phase, the logs were sawn into boards which were 35 mm \times 80 mm \times 2500 mm in size. From each butt log, two sample boards were selected; one from the vicinity of the pith and the other from near the log surface. Due to the limited size of the conventional drying kiln, each board was further cut into two shorter boards 1200 mm in length with a precision circular cutting saw. The basic material consisted of 120 vacuum dried and 120 conventionally dried sample boards sawn from the lower part (0-1.25 m) and upper part (1.25-2.50 m) of the butt log respectively. In addition, 66 and 102 sample boards, from butt logs and top logs, respectively, were selected for colour measurements presented in paper I.

Wood procurement season - storage	Stand		Sample trees		Sample logs	
5		N ^a	Mean	Mean	Mean top	Mean top
			height, m	D _{1.3} ^b ,	diameter of	diameter of
			-	mm	butt log, mm	top log, mm
S – 0	Forest	5	19.2	227	216	192
	Field	5	18.4	209	200	179
S – 8	Forest	5	20.2	237	223	197
	Field	5	17.9	201	191	171
A – 0	Forest	5	19.6	214	201	189
	Field	5	18.3	229	216	192
A – 8	Forest	5	19.8	211	198	185
	Field	5	20.4	230	214	196
W – 0	Forest	5	19.2	208	199	171
	Field	5	20.7	218	206	189
W – 8	Forest	5	20.1	224	210	192
	Field	5	20.1	223	206	192

Table 2. Characteristics of the sample trees and logs by wood procurement season, storage, and stand. Wood procurement seasons and storage of logs: summer (S), autumn (A), winter (W); unstored (0), stored eight weeks (8).

^anumber of sample trees; ^bdiameter at breast height.

For paper V, three additional plantation forests of silver birch, comprising wood materials from commercial first thinnings, were chosen in addition to the two aforementioned plantation forests, which consisted of trees left on site after the first commercial thinning. The total number of boards originating from these forests was 73. In paper III, in which the variation in wood density and shrinkage of sawn birch timber from plantation forests was determined, birch wood from naturally regenerated forests was used as a reference material. This consisted of two mature silver birch stands, one on MT-type (*Myrtillus*-type) and another on VT-type (*Vaccinium*-type) on mineral soils (Luostarinen et al. 2002). The material from the naturally regenerated forests was collected using similar arrangements in respect of wood procurement seasons and wood processing methods. Also the methods for the analyses of wood properties were uniform. Consequently, the total number of boards from naturally regenerated forests was 235.

2.2 Drying experiments

Each of the six sets of sawn timber from the three wood procurement seasons and the two storage periods of logs were dried as separate drying charges always using the same schedule of conventional and vacuum drying for the charges in the comparison. The drying schedules are presented in paper IV. The schedules were moisture-content-based where the course of drying was controlled by the moisture content in the core of the sawn timber. The basic idea in planning the drying schedules for both conventional and vacuum drying processes was to ensure that discolouration of wood would occur to some extent. Simultaneously, the schedules had to be as close as possible to the schedules used in the birch sawmill industries. In other words, the industry-based drying schedules were modified using an elevated temperature level. For comparison of the drying methods for the effects on the properties of dried sawn birch timber, the final moisture content of 5% was used in both drying methods. Similar temperatures during the different processes were not used, because drying at vacuum is thought to yield lighter-coloured birch wood than drying at normal atmospheric pressure. The end-sealing of boards was not used.

Initial and final moisture contents were determined gravimetrically by weighing 20 sample boards before and after the drying process for each conventional and vacuum drying charge. The residual moisture content after drying was determined gravimetrically using small (10-20 g) sub-samples. Moisture content during drying was determined six times at the moisture content levels from 10 to 55%, measured from two separate sample boards at each moisture content level. For the measurements, small sub-samples were cut from the middle of the boards. All the gravimetric analyses of the moisture content, where small sub-samples were used, were carried out separately for the surface layer and inner wood of boards. During the conventional drying, the progress of moisture content and the drying conditions (relative humidity, dry bulb temperature, wet bulb temperature) measured with the sensors of the kiln were recorded in one hourly sequences. The drying conditions and moisture content of wood during vacuum drying could not be recorded.

In paper V, in addition to conventionally and vacuum-dried wood, part of the wood material was dried outside in the open air. In addition, all the dried material in paper V was analysed after conditioning at 20°C temperature and 65% relative humidity according to the respective standard (EN 1534).

2.3 Spectral measurements and chemical analyses of wood

The wood colour was measured using a portable spectrophotometer (Minolta CM-2002) with d/8 geometry (diffuse illumination/8° viewing angle) and a measuring area of 8 mm in diameter. Measurements were made both on fresh and dried boards and always from the freshly planed surface. Three measurements in each sample board were made avoiding knots and other defects and averaged to one recording. The spectrum of reflected light in the visible region (400-700 nm) was measured and transformed to the CIEL*a*b* colour scale using a 2° standard observer and D₆₅ standard illuminant. The transformation was carried out automatically by the meter software (Precise Color... 1994). In this three-dimensional coordinates, L* axis represents non-chromatic changes in lightness from an L* value of 0 (black) to an L* value of 100 (white), +a* represents red, -a* represents green, +b* represents yellow and -b* represents blue (Hunt 1998). The colour variables of both surface layer and inner wood of boards, and the difference in colour (ΔE_{ab}^*) between them, were determined.

The proanthocyanidins were analysed using the acid butanol assay which is a method based on anthocyanidin production in acid hydrolysis (Porter et al. 1986). Wood samples for proanthocyanidin analyses were taken from fresh wood, during the conventional drying process from wood at moisture contents of 35, 30, and 25% based on the readings of the moisture content sensors in the kiln, and from the conventionally and vacuum-dried boards after the drying processes. Fresh wood samples were taken both from the vicinity of the pith and from near the trunk surface. The samples taken during and after the drying

processes consisted of boards from three different radial locations: from the vicinity of the pith, from near to the surface of the log, and from the middle between the pith and surface (III, Figure 1). The chemical samples taken from the boards covered the entire cross-section of the board.

2.4 Analyses of the physical and mechanical properties of wood

The determination of basic density and weight density was based on the volumes of green and dried (5% MC) sample boards. Shrinkage of the wood during drying (from the green state to the target moisture content of 5%) was determined in the tangential and radial direction on the basis of the dimension measurements of the boards. Determination of the volumetric shrinkage was based on the shrinkages in these main directions and the longitudinal direction. The variation in the longitudinal shrinkage during drying was assumed to be small in relation to radial and tangential shrinkage. Hence, the constant longitudinal shrinkage of 0.6% (Wagenführ 1996) was used for the calculation of volume of dried (moisture content of 5%) boards.

Brinell hardness was determined at a constant relative humidity $(65\pm3\%)$ and temperature $(20\pm2^{\circ}C)$ according to EN 1534 using FMT-Mec 100 (Matertest). The measurements were made mainly in the radial direction and the distance from the measuring point to the pith was determined. At the same time, the equilibrium moisture content of the wood was determined by the gravimetric method.

2.5 Statistical methods

One-way analysis of variance (Tukey's test) was used to compare means between groups, and Pearson's correlation coefficient was used to examine relationships between the variables in the interest of the study (I, II, III, IV, V). Analysis of variance was split into various analyses according to the study factors: season of harvest, length of the storage period, radial and longitudinal location of wood in the trunk and growing site. Analyses were performed separately for both drying methods. For the conventional drying in paper I, factor analysis was used to study the effect of wood location in radial and longitudinal directions and their interaction on colour co-ordinates. Linear regression analysis was used to study the dependence of Brinell hardness on basic density (V). Regression analysis (dummy variable regression) was also used to analyse the variation in drying behaviour of wood by studying the dependence of weight density on basic density (III).

3. RESULTS

3.1 Effects of wood procurement season, storage, and growing site on discolouration of timber during drying (I)

The colour of green sawn birch timber was always light and significant differences between felling seasons or storage periods were not found. The decrease in yellowness of fresh wood during the storage of logs from summer-felled trees and the smaller yellowness values of fresh wood from autumn- and winter-felled trees seemed to be connected to the variation of the moisture content of the wood.

Of the wood procurement factors, the felling season had the strongest effect on the discolouration of sawn birch timber during drying. The colour coordinates (L*, a* and b*) differed significantly between the felling seasons both in conventionally and vacuum-dried wood; the difference between wood from summer-felled and winter-felled trees being the greatest. The seasonal differences in colour were large especially in the surface layer of the boards.

In conventional drying, discolouration was the strongest in the wood from summerfelled trees where both the surface layer and the inner wood of sample boards darkened intensively. Then, the colour difference between the surface layer and interior of the boards was hardly visible (ΔE_{ab} *=1.9). In the boards from winter-felled trees, the surface layer remained markedly lighter than the interior of the boards. The boundary between the lighter surface layer and the darker interior was gradual; in conventionally dried boards the colour change occurring during the depth of the first ten millimetres.

In vacuum drying the mechanism of discolouration varied from that in conventional drying; the colour of both the surface layer and inner wood of the boards being the lightest and the least red and yellow in the boards from summer-felled trees, and the darkest and the most red and yellow in the boards from winter-felled trees. In addition, the surface layer discoloured more than the inner wood of the boards; the difference in colour between the locations being the greatest in the boards from winter-felled trees.

The storage of logs increased the intensity of discolouration during conventional drying of the wood from summer-felled and winter-felled trees, and during vacuum drying for all materials. The opposite was the effect of the storage period of logs on the discolouration during the conventional drying of wood from autumn-felled trees. In all, the discolouration behaviour of the wood from unstored, autumn-felled trees was similar to that found for summer-felled trees. Respectively, the behaviour of the wood from autumn-felled trees which were stored for eight weeks was similar to that of the wood from winter-felled trees.

In the radial direction, the lightness of the inner wood of the boards increased and the redness and yellowness decreased from wood sawn from the vicinity of the pith towards that sawn from close to the trunk surface. The difference in colour between the radial locations was greater in the upper logs than in the butt logs. In the longitudinal direction, the differences in colour of conventionally dried wood were not significant between the butt logs and upper logs.

No differences in discolouration during drying were found between the two growing sites.

3.2 The role of proanthocyanidins in discolouration (II)

With regard to the felling season, the proanthocyanidin concentration in fresh and conventionally dried wood was the highest for winter-felled trees. The storage of logs increased the proanthocyanidin concentration both in fresh and dried wood especially for summer-felled trees. In vacuum-dried wood, the seasonal differences in and the effects of storage on the proanthocyanidin concentration were small. Compared to fresh wood, the proanthocyanidin concentration increased during the conventional drying and it was always higher in conventionally dried wood than in vacuum-dried wood. Irrespective of the radial location of the wood, the proanthocyanidin concentration was at the same level in fresh wood but, in conventionally dried wood, it was highest in boards sawn from the vicinity of the pith of the trunk. In vacuum-dried wood the difference between the radial locations was smaller than in conventionally dried wood.

During conventional drying, it was seen that the proanthocyanidin concentration went through three stages linked to the reduction in the moisture content of wood. The proanthocyanidin concentration steadily increased until the moisture content fell to 30%. At 20-30% MC, the proanthocyanidin concentration was constant, but decreased gradually below 20% MC until the target moisture content of 5% was reached.

The correlations between the colour of dried wood and the proanthocyanidin concentration were the highest in the surface layer of boards sawn from unstored logs. In conventionally dried wood, proanthocyanidin concentration correlated positively with lightness and negatively with redness and yellowness of the surface layer. In vacuum-dried wood, the correlations between the proanthocyanidin concentration and the colour of the surface layer of the boards were opposite to those found in conventionally dried wood. Any statistical dependence of colour on the proanthocyanidin concentration could not be detected in wood that was stored as logs for eight weeks. As a whole, the interaction between proanthocyanidin concentration and colour coordinates was opposite, on the one hand, between the surface layer and inner wood of boards of conventionally dried wood and on the other, between the conventionally dried wood and vacuum-dried wood.

3.3 Density and shrinkage of timber during drying (III)

The basic density of birch timber from plantations, 454.4 kg m⁻³, was significantly lower compared to that from naturally regenerated stands, 507.4 kg m⁻³. Within a tree, the basic density increased from the wood sawn from the vicinity of the pith towards the wood sawn from near the log surface. Within a 2.4 m butt log, the basic density of timber was significantly higher in the lower half (0-1.2 m) than in the upper half (1.2-2.4 m) of the log.

The seasonal variation in the wood density and in the behaviour of wood during drying was significant. The basic density of timber was the lowest for autumn-felled timber and the highest for winter-felled timber. The difference was significant between winter and the two other seasons. The basic density was 5.9% and 6.1% higher in winter-felled timber than in autumn-felled timber for plantation-grown birch trees and for naturally regenerated birch trees, respectively.

Naturally, the correlation between the basic density of fresh timber and the weight density of dried timber was high (r = 0.989). However, according to the dummy variable regression, the dependency of weight density of dried timber on the basic density of fresh timber differed between the timber origins and felling seasons, but it did not differ between the drying methods.

The average volumetric shrinkage of all sawn timber specimens was 12.8% during the drying (from the green condition to the target moisture content of 5%). In radial and tangential directions, the shrinkage was 5.6% and 7.4%, respectively. The shrinkage of the sawn timber from the naturally regenerated stands was greater than that from the plantations.

Regarding the drying methods, the shrinkage of sawn timber was greater in conventional kiln drying than in vacuum drying. Volumetric shrinkage was the greatest in sawn timber from winter-felled trees and it differed significantly from that of summer- and

autumn-felled trees for the timber from the naturally regenerated stands, but not for the timber from the plantations.

Both the volumetric and tangential shrinkage of sawn timber correlated very positively with basic density and weight density of dried timber. In addition, a negative correlation was observed between tangential and radial shrinkage.

3.4 Effect of wood properties and drying conditions in the kiln on drying behaviour and final moisture content (IV)

The moisture content of fresh wood was the highest in wood from unstored summer-felled trees (96-111%) (see also paper II, Table 1). It did not differ between autumn-felled (80-88%) and winter-felled trees (78-89%). In all seasons, the moisture content was the highest in wood sawn from the vicinity of the pith and the lowest in wood sawn from near the log surface, the difference in radial direction being the greatest in wood from winter-felled trees. The eight weeks' storage period of logs had an effect on the moisture content only in wood from summer-felled trees, when the wood dried to the level of 62-70% MC.

Despite the same drying schedule, the relative humidity in the kiln differed between seasons during the first steps of the conventional drying process when a low drying temperature was used. In general, during that time, the relative humidity was highest in summer and lowest in winter. Especially, during drying of the eight weeks stored summerfelled wood, the target relative humidity was not reached until the temperature was raised from 42 to 60°C. This was probably because of the humid and warm fresh air taken from the outside atmosphere.

In summer rather than in autumn and winter, due to the higher initial moisture content of the wood and relative humidity in the kiln, the drying time was longer and the drying rate was slower down to 30% MC. For winter-felled wood, however, the drying time was the longest and the drying rate was the slowest below 30% MC. Regarding vacuum drying, the drying time was the shortest and the drying rate was the fastest for summer-felled wood both down to and below 30% MC.

The average final moisture content of the wood was higher in vacuum-dried wood than in conventionally dried wood. In general, the vacuum-dried wood had a lower standard deviation of final moisture content than the conventionally dried wood. The final moisture content of vacuum-dried wood had a positive correlation with initial moisture content and drying rate, and a negative correlation with drying time. The final moisture content of conventionally dried wood neither correlated with initial moisture content nor with drying behaviour variables. In general, the moisture content gradient between the inner wood and the surface layer of boards was smaller in vacuum drying than in conventional drying. Regarding conventional drying, the moisture content gradient was the largest for the boards from winter-felled trees.

3.5 Brinell hardness and equilibrium moisture content of wood (V)

The average Brinell hardness of all specimens was 19.40 MPa, with the average values of 18.04 and 20.05 MPa for woods from unthinned and thinned stands, respectively. Brinell hardness of the wood from winter-felled trees was significantly higher than that of the

wood from summer-felled trees. The Brinell hardness correlated positively with the basic density of wood.

The Brinell hardness increased gradually from the pith towards the log surface. Within a distance of 20 mm from the pith it was only 14 MPa, but at a distance of over 60 mm from the pith it was almost 25 MPa. However, the increase of Brinell hardness in the radial direction seemed to decline at a distance of 80 mm from the pith. The wood from the lower part of the butt log (0-1.2 m) had a higher Brinell hardness than that from the upper part of the butt log (1.2-2.4 m).

A within-tree variation was observed, especially in the radial direction, also for the equilibrium moisture content of dried and conditioned (20°C, 65% RH) birch wood. The highest values of equilibrium moisture content were obtained at a distance of approximately 30-50 mm from the pith, decreasing both towards the pith and towards the log surface. The longitudinal variation of equilibrium moisture content was very small, the value decreasing upwards. The equilibrium moisture content of dried birch wood was the highest in the wood from winter-felled trees and the lowest in the wood from summer-felled trees.

4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Reliability, validity and ability of generalisation of the results

The material of this study was collected from forests which were managed in accordance with the current Finnish silvicultural practices for the subjects of initial development and thinning stage. Both birch plantation sites of this study were typical of the southern part of Finland. Also the two naturally regenerated birch stands, which were used as a reference material in paper III, covered the typical growth sites of silver birch. Therefore, the results obtained can be generalised, in the first place, concerning the wood from the properly managed plantation forests of silver birch. However, due to the special characteristics of genetic origin and intensive breeding of silver birch in Finland (Raulo 1981), the generalisation of the results to the other industrially important countries (Sweden, Norway, Russia and the Baltic countries) can be only suggested.

The number of plantation stands (2) and sample trees (60) was, however, small for the purpose of the generalisation of the results. Therefore, the variation found in wood properties and drying behaviour between wood procurement seasons and the storage periods of logs may partly be caused by the uncontrolled natural variation. Larger study materials would have increased substantially the budget of the study and the time required for the different experiments and laboratory analyses. However, the materials enabled systematic comparative studies between the most interesting sub-groups of silver birch timber for felling period, storage time and drying method.

Although the sample trees had reached the dimensions required for sawable timber, in practice, their probable harvesting time would have been twenty to thirty years later. It is to be presumed that the wood properties would change to some extent during this time due to the maturation of wood and the decrease of the proportion of juvenile wood. In reality, the differences in wood properties between the plantation wood and wood from natural birch forests would finally be verified if the tests were repeated at the age of approximately sixty years.

Regarding the drying methods, the results of this study can be generalised for the drying schedules which are quite similar to those used in this study. However, the results provide some additional basic rules for the development of drying schedule according to the material and drying conditions. The drying schedules were not planned so that they would produce the lightest possible birch wood, because the aim of the study was to obtain discoloured wood in order for it to be studied. In this respect, the wood obtained from the vacuum drying in this study was at variance to the wood from the wood obtained in the practical wood industry more than the wood obtained from the conventional drying, since vacuum drying is normally known to produce lighter coloured wood than conventional drying. Therefore, regarding the suitability of different drying methods for sawn birch timber drying in practice, the comparison between the drying methods are compared considering the mechanisms of discolouration in different drying conditions and drying methods.

The variation of relative humidity during the first steps of conventional drying between drying runs creates uncertainty of the extent the changes in the drying behaviour (eg., discolouration, shrinkage) were caused by the differences in the drying conditions or by the differences in the wood's properties. In any case, the variation in relative humidity clearly affected the drying rate during the first steps of the drying process. Similar variation in the drying conditions is likely to exist in conventional drying of sawn birch timber by the industry, as well, as the drying temperature is kept low.

Most drying kilns in the wood products industries are using time-based drying schedules in which the duration of the drying process can be determined based on the initial moisture content of wood in each drying run, but the real time control of the process stages is not possible. In practice, this means that the drying behaviour in time-based kilns differs between drying runs the more the greater the variation in the initial moisture content between drying runs, because the risk for the difference in the drying conditions at the different moisture content levels increases. Therefore, to apply the results of this study to the time-based drying processes would be very complicated.

The evaluation of colour differences in paper I was mostly based on statistical analyses. However, a colour difference which is statistically significant, is not necessarily distinguished by a human observer. Based on the personal opinion of the author, a colour difference (ΔE_{ab}^*) of 1.8 was chosen as a limit of an observable colour difference, which is somewhat smaller than those values of 2.5-3 presented in the literature (Hon and Minemura 2001). However, the observable colour difference is obviously wood-species dependent, as well, since lightly tinted shades can be more readily distinguished than deeply saturated shades (Popson et al. 1997).

The fact that the sampling method of proanthocyanidin concentration in paper II was not parallel with the spectral measurements of wood reduces the validity of the results. While the spectral measurements were made separately from the surface layer and inner wood of the boards, the samples taken for the chemical analyses covered the cross-section of the board as a whole. The possible difference in the proanthocyanidin concentration between the different layers of the boards would possibly have given additional information on the variation in colour between the layers and the different mechanism of discolouration between the drying methods.

Density characteristics of wood are typically measured by the water-immersion method from the small wood samples or discs. In paper III, however, the aim was to measure all the physical variables from specimens that are of normal size in sawn timber production. Therefore, the volumes of sample boards needed for density characteristics were determined based on their space geometry. The volume of the fresh boards was measured always after the overnight storage at $+6^{\circ}$ C. Evidently, the boards from the winter-felled trees were not thawed throughout at the time of the volume measurement, which might have affected the density results.

Regarding the Brinell hardness in paper V, the interpretation of results would have needed to test the effect of difference in thickness of the specimens on Brinell hardness. The possible effect of thickness of specimens should then have to be taken into account in the statistical processing. However, the indentations were 1-2 mm only, and thus the variation in the thickness of the specimens (15-38 mm) unlikely influenced the results.

4.2 Variation in initial moisture content and drying behaviour of timber

The moisture content of wood has a seasonal variation of up to 40 percentage points in birch timber, ranging from the approximate monthly minimum of 55-60% (dry weight basis) in August, to the maximum of 90-95% in February (Hakkila 1962, Marjomaa 1992). In living trees, the moisture content rises to the highest value in spring just before the bud burst and then gradually decreases until the leaf fall (Burmester 1983). Both increasing (Burmester 1983) and stable (Peterson and Winquist 1960) moisture content of wood during the period between leaf fall in autumn and dormancy in winter has been reported. In this study, the moisture content of wood did not vary much during this period. Most probably, it does not vary either during the late winter, but the increase of the moisture content is faster in spring after the end of the frost period.

In an earlier study, the drying of birch pulp timber was found to be 25-50 kg m⁻³ during the first eight weeks of storage in summer, measured as the decrease in the density of fresh wood (Marjomaa 1992). This result is in accordance with the observations in this study, although the drying of wood is, naturally, dependent on the weather conditions during each storage period. The ambient conditions during the storage enabled the air-drying of logs in summer time, but not in autumn or in wintertime. It should be pointed out, that the most significant decrease in the moisture content and in the weight density occur in the log ends while, in the middle part, both the physiological, biological and visible morphological as well as physical and mechanical changes are small (e.g., Verkasalo 1993). Obviously, this causes additional within-log variation in wood properties and makes further processing more difficult. Although the loss of dry matter due to the storage has been found in birch timber (Pekkala and Uusvaara 1980), the period of eight weeks is probably only long enough for the infection of decaying fungi, which appears as the change of colour in the log ends (Verkasalo 1993, Luostarinen et al. 2002).

The within-tree variation in the moisture content of birch wood was also obvious. Based on the earlier studies, moisture content at its highest in the middle of the trunk (Burmester 1983), except during the spring when it is highest in the surface wood of the lower parts of the trunk (Peterson and Winquist 1960). In this study, the moisture content of wood was highest in the boards sawn from the vicinity of the pith for the trees felled during any season.

Differences in drying time and drying rate were obvious between the sawn timbers from trees felled during different seasons when the moisture content of wood was above 30%. The initial moisture content (which has been found to be an important factor for example for the distribution of final moisture content of Scots pine wood (Salin 2002)) decisively

affected the drying time during conventional drying. Above 30% MC, drying time and drying rate were influenced also by the drying conditions in the kiln. They could be dissimilar for the different drying runs due to the variation in the environmental conditions outside the kiln, and the variation in the initial moisture content of wood, although the setup of each drying schedule was the same. The variation in the amount of moisture in the fresh air taken outside the kiln, seemed to affect the relative humidity in the kiln at the low temperatures which are used during conventional kiln drying at above 20% MC of wood. In addition, according to Esping (1996), the increase in the initial moisture content of wood decreases the wet bulb depression and increases the drying time during the first steps of the drying process.

The variations between the sawn timber from trees felled during different seasons in drying time and drying rate below 30% MC, indicated differences in those wood properties which affect the migration of water in wood both in the conventional drying and in the vacuum drying. According to Sehlstedt-Persson (2001), the moisture diffusion coefficient of Scots pine and Norway spruce decreases with increasing density and increasing amount of extractives. In addition, it is possible that the fast drying of the surface layer of boards from winter-felled trees hindered the drying of the inner wood of the boards by decreasing the moisture migration properties in the surface layer.

Regarding the final moisture content of wood, which is an important criterion of drying quality for sawn timber (Salin 2002, Welling 2004), the vacuum-dried sawn timber had a smaller standard deviation of moisture content than the conventionally dried sawn timber. Also the gradient of moisture content between the inner wood and surface layer of boards was the smallest in vacuum-dried wood. In conventionally dried sawn timber, the gradient of final moisture content between the inner wood and the surface layer of boards was the highest in boards sawn from winter-felled trees. Obviously, this was the result of the premature drying of the surface layer of boards from winter-felled trees, which sustained a high gradient of moisture content until the end of the drying process.

4.3 Proanthocyanidin concentration in wood

Seasonal variation in non-structural carbohydrate reserves has been reported in the stem wood of sessile oak (Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl.) and beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) (Barbaroux and Bréda 2002), sugar maple (Acer saccharum) (Wong et al. 2003) as well as for B. pendula (Piispanen and Saranpää 2001). For B pendula, the smallest total amounts were found for bud burst and early wood growth from spring until mid-summer. Notably, however, in the leaves of *B. pendula*, there exists a large annual variation of phenolic compounds (Laitinen et al. 2000). During the late summer and early fall, the soluble carbohydrates are accumulated in the xylem ray tissues. During the leafless period, starch is stored for the metabolic processes and for primary growth in spring. During cold months, soluble sugars increase when starch is hydrolysed due to the low temperature (Wong et al. 2003). The seasonal variation of carbohydrates in wood is due to plants maintaining respiration during a cold period in winter, building leaves and supporting new growth in spring, and providing the energy expended in making adaptive responses to different kinds of stresses (Barbaroux and Bréda 2002). A similar pattern of seasonal fluctuation was observed in this study for the soluble proanthocyanidin concentration in fresh wood. Additionally, the storage of timber as logs contributed to the higher proanthocyanidin concentration. In fresh wood, it increased during the eight weeks' storage period most

significantly for the summer-felled trees, which was obviously due to the adequate temperature for enzyme-catalysed synthesis of phenols (cf., Laver and Musbah 1996).

The within-tree variation in the proanthocyanidin concentration in fresh wood was not found in this study. This result was unexpected, because the content of soluble sugars was found to decrease from the cambium towards the pith in an earlier study (Piispanen and Saranpää 2001), and the content of methanol extractives was found to decrease from the inner sapwood towards the outer sapwood in fresh silver birch wood (Mononen et al. 2004).

In this study, during the conventional warm-air drying process, drying of wood induced the synthesis of proanthocyanidins down to 20-30% MC. Synthesis of proanthocyanidins is probably a reaction of wood against the stress caused by the removal of water and the increase of temperature in living parenchyma cells and it is favoured by moist and warm conditions (e.g., Botha et al. 1981). It is also possible that the macromolecular compounds present in wood decompose during drying into soluble compounds of lower molar mass (Mononen 2004). The initial proanthocyanidin concentration in the fresh wood was at the same level irrespective of the radial location, but proanthocyanidins were synthesised most in the boards sawn from the vicinity of the pith and least in the boards sawn from near the trunk surface. Obviously, due to the higher initial moisture content of boards sawn from the vicinity of the pith, the drying process above 30% MC was longer for those boards, and the synthesis of proanthocyanidins continued for a longer period. The increase of drying temperature during the last steps of the drying process contributed to the polymerization of the proanthocyanidins to insoluble form. Below 20% MC, the concentration of proanthocyanidins decreased steeply remaining, however, in dried wood at a higher level than in undried wood. Also the difference in proanthocyanidin concentration between the boards from different radial locations, which developed above 30% MC, remained until the end of the drving process.

In vacuum-dried wood, which was dried at higher temperatures than the conventionally dried wood, the concentration of proanthocyanidins was markedly lower than in undried wood. The same result was obtained in an earlier study on mature birch wood from naturally regenerated forests, which, in addition, had a higher proanthocyanidin concentration after drying in room conditions than after conventional drying (Luostarinen and Möttönen 2004). The sample preparation and drying conditions have been found to affect the polyphenol concentrations were found in willow leaves after heat-drying at 60 and 90°C (Julkunen-Tiitto and Sorsa 2001), and the highest condensed tannin concentrations were found in conifer foliage material after freeze-drying (Yu and Dahlgren 2000). For willow leaves also, both the concentrations of (+)-catechin and condensed tannins showed higher values after freeze-drying than fresh or room drying (Julkunen-Tiitto and Sorsa 2001).

4.4 Discolouration of timber during drying

When comparing the results of this study with earlier studies on discolouration of wood during drying, the layer in which the colour measurements have been carried out should be taken into account. Seasonal differences in the discolouration of the surface layer of hard maple (*Acer saccharum* Marsh.) timber during drying were studied by Smith and Herdman (1996). They also observed the lightest and the least red colour for winter and autumn felling seasons when drying timber with low-temperature and low humidity schedules. In

the study of Luostarinen et al. (2002), in which the colour values of birch wood from mature, naturally regenerated birch trees were measured from the inner wood of split-sawn boards, the highest lightness and the lowest redness was observed for the boards from winter-felled trees. Whereas in this study on birch wood from plantations, the lightness of conventionally dried wood did not differ between the woods from summer- and winter-felled trees, and the redness of the inner wood of boards was the greatest in the boards from winter-felled trees. Furthermore, no favourable effect of storage of the logs on wood colour was found in this study. The main reason for the different results between the wood from natural stands and plantations was probably in the differences in wood properties.

The seasonal variation in the discolouration during drying could not be connected directly to the seasonal variation in the proanthocyanidin concentration in fresh birch wood. For conventional drying, the marked differences in the discolouration between the felling seasons were observed in the surface layer of boards while the colour of the inner wood varied less. Discolouration of the surface layer of conventionally dried boards was greatest for summer-felling when the proanthocyanidin concentration of both undried and dried wood was lowest. Correspondingly, in vacuum drying, the discolouration was greatest both in the surface layer and in the inner wood of boards for winter-felling, when the proanthocyanidin concentration of undried wood was highest.

The principal reason why the difference in colour between the surface layer and inner wood of conventionally dried boards varied between the wood procurement seasons was the variation in drying time, especially during the first steps of the drying processes. Obviously, drying at low temperatures produces the precursors of discoloured compounds the more the longer the drying proceeds above the fibre saturation point; the precursors are then discoloured by oxidation during the last steps of the drying process, below the fibre saturation point (cf., Koch et al. 2003). The longer drying time above 30% MC for the summer-felled wood than for that of the autumn-felled or winter-felled wood had the greatest influence on the drying of the surface layer of the boards. On the other hand, the quick drying of the surface layer of boards from winter-felled trees, which was observed through the development of the moisture content gradient in boards during the first steps of the drying process, caused the colour of the surface layer to remain very light.

Also the minor contrasts in the discolouration between the boards from the different radial locations was most probably due to their variations in initial moisture content of wood which lead to the difference in drying time. The difference in colour between the radial locations may also occur in an individual piece of sawn timber (Sundqvist 2002*a*).

The colour variation between the layers of conventionally dried boards also differed between storage periods in autumn, when the weather conditions turned from autumn to winter. During the course of this study, this happened, when a decrease was observed in the daily mean temperature from $\pm 10^{\circ}$ C to $\pm 3^{\circ}$ C. Accordingly, the drying conditions in the kiln differed between the drying charges in autumn. Possibly, some migration of water from the cell wall tissue to the cell cavities occurred during the storage, which is typical in wood at temperatures below 0°C (Skaar 1988).

The freezing of wood has been found to have an effect on the drying process which, based on the drying experiments with artificially frozen wood, remains in wood from a few days to a number of weeks after the freezing treatment (Erickson 1968, Ilic 1999). It is evident that the natural freezing of wood was the main reason for the light and less red surface layer in the boards from winter-felled trees. The relocation of water through freezing may affect the drying process, at least in the surface layer of boards, as the water is removed more easily from the cell cavities than from the cell wall tissue. In the wood from

winter-felled trees, the restrained drying of the inner wood of boards below 30% MC was probably to some extent caused by the faster drying of the surface layer.

In this study, the combination of relatively high temperature and the low drying force that was already used in the beginning of the vacuum drying process was the reason for the darker and more reddish colour of vacuum dried wood compared to that of conventionally dried wood, although vacuum drying is normally known to produce light-coloured wood. The risk of drying defects is high in vacuum drying when the chosen process parameters are unsuitable (Ressel 2003). The low proanthocyanidin concentration in vacuum-dried wood, which did not differ between the trees felled during the different seasons, showed that these colourless phenolic compounds polymerised to insoluble discoloured substances during drying. Seasonal variation of phenolic compounds, which was seen as changes in the proanthocyanidin concentration in fresh wood, probably had an effect on the discolouration. However, it is obvious that the main reason for the seasonal variation in the discolouration was the difference in drying time, owing to differences in the related wood properties. Parallel to the changes in the physical and chemical properties of wood (e.g., basic density, extractive content), the moisture migration properties of wood were obviously different during drying (cf., Sehlstedt-Persson 2001).

The moisture content at which the condensation of the colourless phenolic compounds to the discoloured compounds occurs is related to the increase in the availability of oxygen for the condensation reaction (cf., Koch et al. 2003). The largest change in the availability of oxygen during drying takes place at the fibre saturation point. However, as the fibre saturation point is dependent on several factors and cannot be specified at certain moisture content (Kärkkainen 2003), the critical moisture content at which the discolouration begins during drying may vary. In hard maple, the critical phase was found to be when the moisture content of wood is at or above fibre saturation point (Yeo and Smith 2003). Consequently, elevated temperature and the presence of air are important components for the development of discolouration. Based on the colour measurement during drying, Luostarinen et al. (2002) concluded that the discolouration of birch wood starts when the moisture content of wood is about 30% and the wood reaches its lowest lightness at 18-20% MC. This corresponds well with the moisture content of 23.5% which, according to Koponen (1985), is the fibre saturation point for birch wood at 40°C. According to Stenudd (2004), both the capillary phase, when moisture content is above fibre saturation point, and the diffusion phase have effects on the final colour of silver birch wood after drying and, during the capillary phase the drying time is more important than the drying temperature. Also Sundqvist (2002b) found that, when subjected to heat treatment at $60-90^{\circ}$ C, time is more important for the discolouration than temperature. A similar conclusion can be drawn based on the results of this study: the longer the time above fibre saturation point during drying the stronger is the discolouration. Although the drying-related discolouration becomes visible in birch wood below 30% MC, the chemical precursors of the discoloured compounds are mainly developed during drying above 30% MC (cf., Wengert 1997). However, the temperature is important below fibre saturation point (Stenudd 2004), but in this phase the variation in the critical wood properties (e.g., density, extractive content) may also affect the drying rate and discolouration.

When birch wood is dried at low temperature, the initial moisture content of the wood and the absolute humidity of fresh air, which both vary annually, are the decisive factors concerning the time of drying above fibre saturation point. The high concentration of phenolic extractives in wood only has an effect on the discolouration during prolonged storage and drying above 30% MC. However, as the discolouration may occur also during

drying at room temperature (Luostarinen and Luostarinen 2001), the critical temperature where the precursors of the discolouration are developed obviously varies as well. Evidently, the synthesisation of precursors is accelerated by temperature. In this study, this was seen as an intensive discolouration in vacuum-dried wood. However, it is obvious that regardless of the temperature, if the drying would be fast enough, birch wood could be dried with remarkably less discolouration (cf., Stenudd 2003). On the other hand, the thickness of the sawn birch timber is normally relatively large (\geq 38 mm) making the drying of the inner parts of the boards so long lasting that the variation in discolouration inevitably occurs during conventional kiln drying.

The variation in colour between the surface layer and the inner wood of the boards occurred in a different way in the two drying methods. It is obvious; that the higher dry bulb temperature of 60-82°C during the drying process was the main reason for the more intensive discolouration during the vacuum drying. However, it is unclear why the surface layer discoloured more than did the inner wood of the boards during vacuum drying. One hypothesis is the role of low-molecular sugars and nitrogenous compounds which, in sawn Scots pine (Terziev 1995) and radiata pine (Kreber et al. 1998) timbers, are known to migrate to the surface of the boards when high dry bulb temperatures are used during drying. However, this is an unlikely reason in relation to the vacuum drying in which the moisture moves mainly in the longitudinal direction (cf., Chen 1997). It is also possible that, in this study the drying conditions were favourable for strong discolouration of the surface layer; the drying force was relatively low and the drying temperature was relatively high at the beginning of the vacuum drying process. Unfortunately, real time data on the ambient drying conditions during the vacuum dryings were not recorded.

Differences in the discolouration of timber were not found between growing sites in this study. In an earlier study, the growing site and its fertility, for the natural habitats of birch trees, were found to have only a minor effect on the discolouration of birch wood during drying (Luostarinen et al. 2002). However, as the differences in fertility between growing sites affect growth rate and, hence the ring width, the ratio between light-coloured early wood and dark-coloured late wood varies with the level of fertility.

4.5 Physical and mechanical properties of wood

Both the wood from plantations and the wood from naturally regenerated forests showed seasonal variation in basic density for silver birch. The result is in accordance with earlier findings by Peterson and Winquist (1960); the basic density of birch wood is higher in the winter half of the year than in the summer half of the year. Also Burmester (1983) found an increase in birch wood density during the frost period in winter, and a decrease to the minimum at the time of the bud burst. However, when comparing the basic density values between summer-felled and autumn-felled wood, this study found none of the gradual increase in density during summer found by Burmester (1983).

Based on the between-season difference in the concentration of soluble carbohydrates in birch wood (Piispanen and Saranpää 2001), the variation in dry density caused by the difference in extractive content could be 1-2%. The relative difference of 5-6% in the density of wood between the seasons which was observed in this study, cannot therefore be explained by the seasonal fluctuation of storage carbohydrates only (cf., Burmester 1983), but by the season-dependent physiological changes as a whole. The seasonal changes in the extractive and moisture contents and in the temperature, caused changes in the mass and

volume of fresh wood. In addition to the increase in extractive content of wood, the coldness shrinkage of wood at the temperatures below 0°C might have increased the basic density of wood in the winter-felled trees. Coldness shrinkage is a result of the migration of water from wood tissue to the ice crystals in cell cavities (Skaar 1988). It can also be seen as changes in the dimensions of wood (Kübler 1962, Leikola 1969).

The variation in the density between the seasons was emphasised in dried wood, due to the difference in the drying behaviour between seasons. Obviously, owing to the higher extractive content of wood in the winter-felled trees and the shrinkage of fresh wood due to the cold, the physical properties altered in a way that lowered the drying rate of wood below fibre saturation point. Consequently, the deceleration of drying especially below 30% MC lead to the increase in shrinkage of wood from winter-felled trees.

The significance of the variation in density between the wood procurement seasons, which was found in this study, is as such presumably quite low for the quality of the wood products. However, the variation in wood properties, including the initial moisture content, extractive content and wood density, had an effect on the behaviour of the wood during drying. This was seen as a variation in discolouration, shrinkage and gradient of final moisture content of the wood. It is essential to take the variation of the wood properties into account during the further processing of sawn timber. In practice, this would possibly mean that the wood properties were taken into account in more detail in drying schedules. Furthermore, as the variation of the wood properties of the sawn birch timber will increase with the supply of plantation grown timber, the sawn timber should be sorted more specifically according to the wood properties before further processing (cf., Welling 2004).

In this study, the basic density of silver birch wood from plantations was found to be significantly lower than that of wood from naturally regenerated silver birch forests or the basic density for mature silver birch as presented by Hakkila (1966), Wagenführ (1996), and Heräjärvi (2002). Similar findings of lower density of wood for plantation-grown birch trees have been presented by Velling (1979) and Verkasalo (1998). Also Dunham et al. (1999) found a 10% difference in the density between fast-grown and slow-grown birch wood. The within-tree variation in the density was observed as the density increased from the pith to the bark and decreased from the base of the trunk upwards. These results correspond well with the results of Hakkila (1966) and Heräjärvi (2002). However, the radial change in density was clearly larger in plantation-grown birch trees than in naturally grown trees. In this study, the effect of a lower density of plantation-grown wood was shown as a lower hardness of wood compared with the results obtained for mature, naturally regenerated birch wood (Kucera 1984, Heräjärvi 2004).

According to Heräjärvi (2004), the density of birch wood does not increase outwards in the outermost wood (distance more than 100 mm from the pith); close to the stump height, the density may be even smaller than within the distance of 50-100 mm from the pith. Obviously, the decrease in density in the outermost wood is related to the maturation of the trees. It should be pointed out that due to the sawing pattern, the outermost wood was not included in this study.

The effect of drying rate on wood shrinkage was seen in this study as a greater shrinkage of conventionally dried wood compared to that of vacuum-dried wood. A similar difference between the same drying methods was obtained for sawn red oak timber by Harris and Taras (1984). Stevens (1963) found that the increase in drying rate decreased the shrinkage of beech wood. He also found that an increase in temperature affected shrinkage increasingly if slow drying was used, but decreasingly if fast drying was used. In addition

to the difference in drying rate between the drying methods, the difference in drying rate between the felling and storage seasons also had an effect on shrinkage in this study. On the whole, the drying rate below fibre saturation point seems to have an effect on shrinkage of silver birch wood. Regarding the shrinkage, the conclusion is that the increase in drying rate improves the drying quality of sawn birch timber.

Previous research has found that drying temperature may have an effect on the equilibrium moisture content of wood when high temperatures (>100°C) are used (Edvardsen and Sandland 1999, Sehlstedt-Persson 1995, 2000). Consequently, the hygroscopicity of wood decreases and the dimensional stability increases with the increasing drying temperature. In this study, the equilibrium moisture content was also different in air-dried (20°C) and artificially dried (65 and 82°C) wood. Based on the difference in the equilibrium moisture content, the dimensional stability of wood also may vary between the radial locations.

5. CONCLUSIONS

In European wood products industries, the light and uncoloured birch wood is considered to be the most suitable for the products which are finished with clear or shaded varnishes. The uncontrolled colour variation increases the need for sorting and matching of raw material and, at worst, the discolouration of wood during drying alone may cause the rejection of an entire batch of sawn timber. In this study, the discolouration of birch wood during drying appeared both as a phenomenon of darkening and reddening of wood and as a difference in colour between the surface layer and inner wood of the boards. The uneven colour within a board is a problem when the timber is processed further by planing or resawing, and the machining exposes contrasting surfaces. For the support of further processing, additional research is needed on the acceptable discolouration and colour variation on the markets of wooden products. Furthermore, it is well known that the stability of colour in birch wood products in use is poor, especially when exposed to UV-radiation. However, to date the research information on the colour stability of birch wood surface in use is limited.

Obviously, the discolouration of birch wood during drying is mainly as a result of oxidative polymerisation of phenolic compounds. However, the seasonal and within-tree variation of the chemical and physical properties of wood complicates the control of colour during drying. It is obviously impossible to define any exact critical temperature for the discolouration of birch wood during drying, because it would be dependent on the wood properties and ambient drying conditions. To obtain the minimum variation in colour of dried sawn birch timber, it would be essential to be able to pre-sort the timber into batches according to the initial moisture content of the wood. Furthermore, regardless of the drying method, the drying schedules in every batch should be adjusted according to the initial moisture content of the wood. However, a uniform final colour is probably difficult to obtain for birch woods with different initial moisture contents. In all cases, the adequate control of colour during drying of sawn birch timber requires experimental research data and practical experience from the kiln operator.

To keep the quality of sawn birch timber uniform, the common practice used in the wood procurement is to avoid harvesting birch timber between the bud burst in spring and the leaf fall in autumn. This kind of action seems reasonable on the basis of the results of this study, if the objective is to obtain conventionally dried birch timber which has a light

surface layer. In any case, the fresh wood should not be stored during a period of warm weather because of the chemical processes which may produce the precursors of the discoloured compounds. The storing of timber during a frost period is obviously not harmful regarding the wood colour. Therefore, the snow storage, which is commonly used by the wood products industries, is evidently a reasonable method to replace the wood harvested during summer.

High lightness and low redness values of birch wood colour together with a moderately short drying time obviously are not possible to achieve by the conventional warm-air drying method without causing a variation in colour between the different layers in the boards. The uneven colour of the boards is further emphasised when the boards are thick. The further lowering of temperature excessively increases the drying time and would approach the time taken for air-drying. In practice, vacuum drying is known to yield light-coloured birch timber in a relatively short drying time. This is presumed to be as a result of low oxygen concentration in the drying kiln. The results of this study indicate that the discolouration of birch wood during vacuum drying is also related more to the drying time than to the oxygen concentration in the kiln.

From the point of view of the wood products industries, additional research is required to optimise the drying quality as a function of drying costs. Additional research is needed also on other drying methods which are faster and perhaps more economical than the conventional kiln drying and the vacuum drying, e.g., high temperature drying and compression drying. In addition to the experimental research of drying behaviour of wood with different drying methods, the ability to use simulation models on discolouration would make it easier to find the solutions to the problem of discolouration.

Based on the results of this study, the density and the Brinell hardness in plantationgrown birch wood are significantly lower than for those in birch wood grown in naturally regenerated forests. The reasons for the lower values in those properties are the higher growth rate and young age of the cambium producing the wood cells (Bhat 1980). This can be considered in part to be a consequence of the breeding of plantation material during the 1960s when greater emphasis was placed on the quantity of the wood over the quality. The plantation-grown birch trees already achieve the size of saw logs at the age of forty to sixty years, which is up to forty years earlier than that of birch trees from natural regeneration. The difference in the density obviously will have an effect on the properties of birch wood products, which must be taken into account when raw material for the mechanical wood manufacturing industry is processed. Probably the mixed use of the plantation-grown and naturally grown birch timber during the further processing would be unreasonable. In addition, the radial variation in the density in plantation-grown material requires pre-sorting of material prior to or during the sawing. Due to possible differences in dimensional stability, the sorting of sawn raw material according to radial location prior to further processing seems to be reasonable. On the other hand, the radial variation in the value of wood in itself calls for the optimisation of bucking the stems (Heräjärvi 2002) and setting the sawing patterns in order to maximise the utilisation of the densest and the hardest wood near the log surface.

In addition, to retain the quality of birch products at the present level new production technology should be introduced into the wood products industries. Some possible uses include the utilisation of the drying technology which increases the wood density (compression drying) or the newly presented polyurethane finishes (Al-oxide finishes), which are able to increase the hardness of the surfaces of the wood products.

REFERENCES

- Amburgey, T.L. 1994. Color, stain, and the drying process. Profitable solutions for quality drying of softwoods and hardwoods, proceedings. May 25-27, 1994. Charlotte, North Carolina. Forest Products Society. p. 66-68.
- Anttonen, S., Piispanen, R., Ovaska, J., Mutikainen, P., Saranpää, P. & Vapaavuori, E. 2002. Effects of defoliation on growth, biomass allocation, and wood properties of *Betula pendula* clones grown at different nutrient levels. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32: 498-508.
- Asikainen, A., Möttönen, V. & Mononen, K. 2001. Värinmuutokset koivun kuivauksessa. [Colour changes in drying of birch wood]. In: Riekkinen, M. & Kärki, T. (eds.). Koivun kuivausmenetelmät 2000-vuosituhannelle. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 810. p. 21-25. (In Finnish).
- Auvinen, E. 2001. Koivun alipaine-suurtaajuuskuivaus (HFV-kuivaus). [High frequencyvacuum drying of birch]. In: Riekkinen, M. & Kärki, T. (eds.). Koivun kuivausmenetelmät 2000-vuosituhannelle. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 810. p. 31-34. (In Finnish).
- Auvinen, S., Isomäki, O., Koponen, H., Saimovaara, J., Tiainen, J., Tiainen, J. & Tolvanen, P. 2002. Puutuoteteollisuus 3. Puusepänteollisuus. [Wood products industries 3. Joinery industry]. Edita Oy, Helsinki. 266 p. (In Finnish).
- Barbaroux, C. & Bréda, N. 2002. Contrasting distribution and seasonal dynamics of carbohydrate reserves in stem wood of adult ring-porous sessile oak and diffuse-porous beech trees. Tree Physiology 22: 1201-1210.
- Bhat, K.M. 1980. Variation in structure and selected properties in Finnish birch woods: I. Interrelationships of some structural features, basic density and shrinkage. Silva Fennica 14(4): 384-396.
- Bois, P.J. 1970. Gray-brown chemical stain in southern hardwoods. Forest products utilization, Technical report no. 1. USDA For. Serv., State & Private forestry, Madison, WI. 4 p.
- Botha, J.J., Ferreira, D. & Roux, D.G. 1981. Synthesis of condensed tannins. Part 4. A direct biomimetic approach to [4,6]- and [4,8]-biflavonoids. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1: 1235-1245.
- Burmester, A. 1983. Veränderung von Holzfeuchtigkeit, dichte und Schwindung bei Laubhölzern durch jahrezeitlich bedingte Einflüsse. Summary: Seasonal changes in moisture content, density and shrinkage of wood in deciduous trees. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 41:493-498.
- Burtin, P., Jay-Allemand, C., Charpentier J.-P. & Janin G. 1998. Natural wood colouring process in *Junglans* sp. (*J. nigra, J. regia* and hybrid *J. nigra* 23 × *J. regia*) depends on native phenolic compounds accumulated in the transition zone between sapwood and heartwood. Trees 12: 258-264.
- , Jay-Allemand, C., Charpentier, J.-P. & Janin, G. 2000. Modification of hybrid walnut (*Juglans nigra* 23 × *Juglans regia*) wood colour and phenolic composition under various steaming conditions. Holzforschung 54: 33-38.
- Charrier, B., Haluk, J.P. & Janin, G. 1992. Prevention of brown discolouration in European oakwood occurring during kiln drying by a vacuum process: Colorimetric comparative study with a traditional process. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 50: 433-437.

- Chen, Z. 1997. Primary driving force in wood vacuum drying. Ph.D. dissertation, Virginia Tech., Blacksburg, VA. 172 p.
- & Lamb, F.M. 2001. Investigation of boiling front during vacuum drying of wood. Wood and Fiber Science 33(4): 639-647.
- Corbo, M., Pape, R. & Tegelmark, D. 2001. Lagring av björktimmer en förstudie. Summary: Storing timber of birch - a preliminary study. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Research Note No. 13. 13 p. (In Swedish).
- Dunham, R.A., Cameron, A.D. & Petty, J.A. 1999. The effect of growth rate on the strength properties of sawn beams of silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth). Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 14: 18-26.
- Edvardsen, K. & Sandland, K.M. 1999. Increased drying temperature Its influence on the dimensional stability of wood. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 57: 207-209.
- EN 1534: 2000 E. Wood and parquet flooring Determination of resistance to indentation (Brinell) Test method. European Standard. CEN 2000. 10 p.
- Erickson, R.W. 1968. Drying of pre-frozen redwood Fundamental and applied considerations. Forest Products Journal 18(6):49-56.
- , Petersen, H.D. & Larson, T.D. 1984. Obtaining uniform moisture final content in the high temperature drying paper birch flitches. Forest Products Journal 34(2): 27-32.
- Esping, B. 1996. Trätorkning 1 b praktisk torkning. [Wood drying 1 b practical drying]. Svensk Tryck, Surte. 959 p. (In Swedish).
- Forsén, H. & Tarvainen, V. 2003. Sahatavaran jatkojalostuksen asettamat vaatimukset kuivauslaadulle ja eri tuotteille sopivat kuivausmenetelmät. [Drying quality requirements in sawn timber refining and suitable drying methods for different products]. VTT Publications 517: 1-69. (In Finnish).
- Forsyth, P.G. & Amburgey, T.L. 1991. Microscopic characterization of non-microbial grey sap-stain in southern hardwood lumber. Wood and Fiber Science 23(3):376-383.
- Frey-Wyssling, A. & Bosshard, H.H. 1959. Cytology of the ray cells in sapwood and heartwood. Holzforschung 13: 129-137.
- Haavisto, M. (ed.) 1983. Maaperäkartan käyttöopas.. Summary: Basic mapping of quaternary deposits in Finland. Geological Survey of Finland, Espoo. Guide 10. 80 p.
- Hakkila, P. 1962. Polttohakepuun kuivuminen metsässä. Summary: Forest seasoning of wood intended for fuel chips. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 54(4): 1-82.
- 1966. Investigations on the basic density of Finnish pine, spruce and birch wood. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 61(5): 1-98.
- Hallaksela, A.-M. & Niemistö, P. 1998. Stem discolouration of planted silver birch. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 13(2): 169-176.
- Harris, R.A. & Taras, M.A. 1984. Comparison of moisture content distribution, stress distribution, and shrinkage of red oak lumber dried by a radio frequency/vacuum drying process and a conventional kiln. Forest Products Journal 34(1):44-54.
- Haslam, E. 1975. Natural proanthocyanidins. In: Harborne, J.B., Mabry, T.J. & Mabry, H. (eds.). The flavonoids. Academic Press, New York. p. 505-559.
- Heräjärvi, H. 2001. Technical properties of mature birch (*Betula pendula* and *Betula pubescens*) for saw milling in Finland. Silva Fennica 35(4): 469-485.
- 2002. Properties of birch (*Betula pendula, B. pubescens*) for sawmilling and further processing in Finland. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research papers 871. 52 p.
- 2004. Variation of basic density and Brinell hardness within mature Finnish *Betula* pendula and *B. pubescens* stems. Wood and Fiber Science 36(2): 216-227.

- Hiltunen, E., Pakkanen, T.T. & Alvila, L. 2003. Phenolic extractives from wood of birch (*Betula pendula*). Holzforschung 58: 326-329.
- Hon, D.N.-S. 2001. Weathering and photochemistry of wood. In: Hon, D.N.-S. & Shiraishi, N. (eds.). Wood and cellulosic chemistry. 2nd ed., rev. and expanded. Marcel Dekker, New York. p. 513-546.
- & Minemura, N. 2001. Color and discoloration. In: Hon, D.N.-S. & Shiraishi, N. (eds.).
 Wood and cellulosic chemistry. 2nd ed., rev. and expanded. Marcel Dekker, New York.
 p. 385-442.
- Hrutfiord, B.F., Luthi, R. & Hanover, K. F. 1985. Color formation in western hemlock. Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology 5: 451-460.
- Hunt, R.W.G. 1998. Measuring Colour. Third edition. Fountain Press, Kingston-upon-Thames, England. p. 53-72.
- Hynönen, T. & Hytönen, J. 1998. Pellosta metsäksi. [From field to forest]. 2nd ed. Kustannusosakeyhtiö Metsälehti. 152 p. (In Finnish).
- Hytönen, J. 1999. Pellonmetsityksen onnistuminen Keski-Pohjanmaalla. [Results of field afforestation in the Middle-Ostrobothnia]. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja 4/1999: 697-710. (In Finnish).
- Ilic, J. 1999. Influence of pre-freezing on shrinkage related degrade in *Eucalyptus regnans* F. Muell. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 57:241-245.
- Isomäki, O., Koponen, H., Nummela, A. & Suomi-Lindberg, L. 2002. Puutuoteteollisuus 2. Raaka-aineet ja aihiot. [Wood products industries 2. Raw materials and semi-finished products]. Edita Oy, Helsinki. 154 p. (In Finnish).
- Jalava, M. 1945. Strength properties of Finnish pine, spruce, birch and aspen. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 33(3): 1-66. (In Finnish with English summary).
- Johansson, I., Saddler, J.N. & Beatson, R.P.. 2000. Characterization of the polyphenolics related to the colour of western red cedar (*Thuja plicata* Donn) heartwood. Holzforschung 54, 246-254.
- Julkunen-Tiitto, R. & Sorsa, S. 2001. Testing the effects of drying methods on willow flavonoids, tannins, and salicylates. Journal of Chemical Ecology 27(4): 779-789.
- Keey, R.B., Langrish, T.A.G. & Walker, J.C.F. 1999. Kiln-drying of lumber. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York. 326 p.
- Keinänen, E. & Tahvanainen, V. 1995. Pohjolan jalot puut. Erikoispuiden mitta-, laatu- ja käsittelyopas. [The Noble Tree Species of the North. Requirements for Dimensions, Quality, and Processing]. Taitemia-series. 160 p. (In Finnish).
- Kinnunen, K. & Aro, L. 1996. Vanhojen pellonmetsitysten tila Länsi-Suomessa. [Condition of old field afforestation stands in Western Finland]. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja 2/1996: 101-111. (In Finnish).
- Kivistö, J., Sipi, M., Kantola, A. & Niemelä, T. 1999. Koivun, haavan, sekä terva- ja harmaalepän mekaaninen jalostus ja lopputuotteet Suomessa vuonna 1999. Postikyselyja haastattelututkimuksen tulosten yhteenveto. Summary: Mechanical processing and end products of birch, alder and aspen in Finland in 1999. University of Helsinki, Department of Forest Resource Management. Publications 20. 56 p. + App. 15 p. (In Finnish).
- Koch, G., Puls, J. & Bauch, J. 2003. Topochemical characterisation of phenolic extractives in discoloured beechwood (*Fagus sylvatica* L.). Holzforschung 57(4): 339-345.

- Kontunen-Soppela, S., Taulavuori, E., Lähdesmäki, P., Pietiläinen, P. & Hytönen, J. 1997. Growth disturbances in Scots pines growing in afforested fields – disorders in amino acid and protein pools. Scripta Geochimica Fennica 6. 13 p.
- Koponen, H. 1985. Sorption isotherms of Finnish birch, pine and spruce. Paperi ja puu 67(2): 70-77.
- 1997. Rakennuspuusepänteollisuus. [Wood construction industry]. Teknillinen korkeakoulu, Puutekniikan laboratorio. Tiedonanto 69. 113 p. (In Finnish).
- Kreber, B. & Byrne, A. 1994. Discolorations of hem-fir wood: a review of the mechanisms. Forest Products Journal 44(5): 35-42.
- & Byrne, A. 1996. Production of brown stain in hemlock logs and lumber during storage. Forest Products Journal 46(4): 53-58.
- & Haslett, A. 1997. Compression rolling reduces kiln brown stain in radiata pine sapwood. Forest Products Journal 47(7/8): 59-63.
- , Schmidt, E.L. & Byrne, A. 1994. Methyl bromide fumigation to control non-microbial discolorations in western hemlock and red alder. Forest Products Journal 44(10): 63-67.
- Fernandez, M. & McDonald, A.G. 1998. Migration of kiln brown stain precursors during the drying of radiate pine sapwood. Holzforschung 52(4): 441-446.
- , Stahl, M.R. & Haslett, A.N. 2001. Application of a novel de-watering process to control kiln brown stain in radiata pine. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 59: 29-34.
- Kucera, B. 1984. Bjørkevirkets mekaniske, teknologiske og fysiske egenskaper. [Mechanical, technical and physical properties of birch timber]. Norges landbruksvitenskapelige forskningsråd, Slutrapport nr. 500. 21 p. (In Norwegian).
- Kübler, H. 1962. Schwinden und quellen des holzes durch kälte. Summary: Shrinkage and swelling of wood by coldness. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 20: 364-368.
- Kuusipalo, J. 1996. Suomen metsätyypit. [Forest site types of Finland]. Kirjayhtymä, Helsinki. 144 p. (In Finnish).
- Källander, B.A. 2003. Climate control in vacuum dryers for convective heat transfer. Part 2: Actual climates in industrial kilns and suggestions to improve kiln design. Wood Science and Technology 37: 3-9.
- Kärki, T. 2000. Grey alder (*Alnus incana*) as a raw material for mechanical wood processing in Finland. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers 764. 47 p.
- Kärkkäinen, M. 2003. Puutieteen perusteet. [Basics of Wood Science]. Metsälehti Kustannus. 451 p. (In Finnish).
- Lahtinen, T. & Tolonen, Y. 2001. Koivusahatavaran kuivauskaavat alipainekuivauksessa. [Drying schedules in vacuum drying of sawn birch timber]. In: Luostarinen, K., Möttönen, V., Asikainen, A., Pakkanen, T. Saranpää, P. & Tolonen, Y. (eds.). Koivun puuaineksen kemia ja värinmuutokset kuivauksessa. Konsortion loppuraportti. University of Joensuu, Faculty of Forestry. Research notes 134. p. 58-75. (In Finnish).
- Laitinen, M.-L., Julkunen-Tiitto, R. & Rousi, M. 2000. Variation in phenolic compounds within a birch (*Betula pendula*) population. Journal of Chemical Ecology 26(7): 1609-1622.
- Larson, T.D., Erickson, R.W. & Boone, R.S. 1986. Comparison of drying methods for paper birch SDR flitches and studs. Res. pap. FPL 465. USDA, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory. 13 p.
- Laver, M.L. & Musbah, D.A.A. 1996. An enzyme extract from Douglas-fir sapwood and its relationship to brown staining. Wood and Fiber Science 28(1): 2-6.
- Lehtimäki, J., Heräjärvi, H. & Verkasalo, E. 2002. Harvennuskoivu sahauksessa ja jatkojalostuksessa. [Birch timber from thinnings in sawing and further processing]. In:

Riekkinen, M. & Verkasalo, E. (eds.). Itä-Suomen puunlaatu ja -käyttö. Tutkimuspäivä Kuopiossa 23.10.2001. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 855. p. 23-38. (In Finnish).

- Leikola, M. 1969. The influence of environmental factors on the diameter growth of forest trees. Auxanometric study. Acta Forestalia Fennica 92:1-144.
- Lepistö, M. 1981. Koivunjalostuksen tulokset varmistuvat. Summary: Promising results from Finnish birch (*B. pendula*) progeny tests. Metsänjalostussäätiö, Helsinki. The Foundation for Forest Tree Breeding in Finland. Information 2/1981. 7 p. (In Finnish).
- Lindblad, J., Tammiruusu, V., Kilpeläinen, H., Lehtimäki, J., Heräjärvi, H. & Verkasalo, E.
 2003. Pieniläpimittaisen koivun hyödyntäminen huonekaluteollisuuden tarpeisiin.
 [Utilisation of small-dimensioned birch for the needs of the furniture industry].
 Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 899: 1-68. (In Finnish).
- Luostarinen, K. & Luostarinen, J. 2001. Discolouration and deformations of birch parquet boards during conventional drying. Wood Science and Technology 35: 517-528.
- & Möttönen, V. 2004. Effects of log storage and drying on birch (*Betula pendula*) wood proanthocyanidin concentration and discolouration. Journal of Wood Science 50: 151-156.
- & Verkasalo, E. 2000. Birch as sawn timber and in mechanical further processing in Finland. A literature study. Silva Fennica Monographs 1. 40 p.
- Möttönen, V., Asikainen, A. & Luostarinen, J. 2002. Birch (*Betula pendula*) wood discolouration during drying. Effect of environmental factors and wood location in the trunk. Holzforschung 56: 348-354.
- Marjomaa, J. 1992. Puutavaralajien tuoretiheyksien vaihtelu. [The green density variation of timber assortments]. Metsätehon katsaus 4. 8 p. (In Finnish).
- McGinnes, E.A. & Rosen, H.N. 1984. Macroscopic and microscopic analyses of colour changes of wood pressure steam-dried above atmospheric pressure. Wood and Fiber Science 16(1): 48-56.
- McMillen, J.M. 1975. Physical characteristics of seasoning discolourations in sugar maple sapwood. Research paper FPL 248. USDA For. Serv., For. Prod. Lab., Madison, WI. 31 p.
- Method for the simultaneous stabilisation and drying of wood. 1963. Junckers savvaerk a/s. The patent office London, patent specification 932,677. 3 p.
- Milota, M.R. & Wengert, E.M. 1995. Applied drying technology, 1988 to 1993. Forest Products Journal 45(5): 33-41.
- Mononen, K. 2004. Discolouration of silver birch (*Betula pendula*) wood induced by kiln drying and hydrogen peroxide bleaching. Dissertations, University of Joensuu, Department of Chemistry 69/2004. 41 p.
- , Alvila, L. & Pakkanen, T. 2004. Effect of growing site type, felling season, storage time and kiln drying on contents and distributions of phenolic extractives and low molar mass carbohydrates in secondary xylem of silver birch *Betula pendula*. Holzforschung 58(1): 53-65.
- Mosedale, J.R., Charrier, B. & Janin, G. 1996. Genetic control of wood colour, density and heartwood ellagitannin content of European oak (*Quercus petraea* and *Quercus robur*). Forestry 69: 111-124.
- Niemistö, P. 1995. Influence of initial spacing and row-to-row- distance on the growth and yield of Silver birch (*Betula pendula*). Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 10: 245-255.

- , Hukki, P. & Verkasalo, E. 1997. Kasvupaikan ja puuston tiheyden vaikutus rauduskoivun ulkoiseen laatuun 30-vuotiaissa istutuskoivikoissa. [Effect of growth site and stand density on external quality of silver birch in 30-years-old plantations]. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja 3/1997: 349-374. (In Finnish).
- Nurmi, J. 2002. Istutettujen pellonmetsitysmanniköiden ulkoinen laatu Savossa ja Pohjanmaalla. [The external quality of pine forests established on former agricultural fields in Savo and Ostrobothnia]. In: Nurmi, J., Verkasalo, E. & Kokko, A. (eds.). Pohjanmaan puunlaatu ja –käyttö. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 861. p. 61-67. (In Finnish).
- Pape, R. 2002. Red heart in birch origin, properties and utilization. The Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Forest Products and Markets, Report No 2: 1-36.
- Pekkala, O. & Uusvaara, O. 1980. Kuitupuun metsävarastoinnin vaikutus massan saantoon ja laatuun. [The effect of forest storage of timber on the yield and quality of pulp]. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 96(4): 1-24. (In Finnish).
- Peltola, A. 2004. (Ed.). Finnish statistical yearbook of forestry 2004. SVT, Agriculture, forestry and fishery 2004: 45. Finnish Forest Research Institute. 416 p.
- Peltoranta, J. 2001. Koivun suurimittakaavainen kuivaus. [Large-scale drying of birch timber]. In: Riekkinen, M. & Kärki, T. (eds.). Koivun kuivausmenetelmät 2000vuosituhannelle. Seminaaripäivän esitelmät. Finnish For. Res. Inst., Research Paper 810. p. 47-48.
- Peterson, O. & Winquist, T. 1960. Vikt- och fuktighetsvariationer hos björk under olika årstider. [Variations of weight and moisture in birch with seasons]. Skogshögskolan. Rapp. Uppsats. Instn. Virkeslära. 28:1-20. (In Swedish).
- Phelps, J.E., McGinnes, E.A., Garret, H.E. & Cox, G.S. 1982. Growth quality evaluation of black walnut wood. II. Color analyses of veneer produced on different sites. Wood and Fiber Science 15: 177-185.
- Piispanen, R. & Saranpää, P. 2001. Variation of non-structural carbohydrates in silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) wood. Trees 15: 444-451.
- Popson, S.J., Malthouse, D.D. & Robertson, P.C. 1997. Applying brightness, whiteness, and color measurements to color removal. Tappi J. 80(9): 137-147.
- Porter, L.J., Hrstich, L.N. & Chan, B.G. 1986. The conversion of procyanidins and prodelphinidins to cyanidin and delphinidin. Phytochemistry 25: 223-230.
- Precise Color Communication. 1994. Color Control from Feeling to Instrumentation. Minolta Co., Ltd. Osaka, Japan. 49 p.
- Puisten sisäverhousten pintakäsittelyt. 1995. [Finishing of wooden upholstery indoors]. RT 29-10583. Rakennustietosäätiö. 12 p. (In Finnish).
- Raulo, J. 1978. Forestation chain for birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) in Finland. Silva Fennica 12(1): 17-24.
- 1981. Koivukirja. [Birch book]. Kustannus Oy Gummerus, Saarijärvi. 132 p. (In Finnish).
- Ressel, J.B. 2003. [Internet site]. Developments in vacuum drying and press drying of timber. Advances in wood drying, a seminar covering issues of concern to the wood drier. Available from: http://www.ul.ie/~woodtech/index.html. [Cited 12 Apr 2005].
- Rink, G. & Phelps, J.E. 1989. Variation in heartwood and sapwood properties among 10year old black walnut trees. Wood and Fiber Science 21: 177-182.

- Rogez, D. 2002. [Internet site]. Color stabilization of wood and durability improvement of wood coatings: A new UV light-protection concept for indoor and outdoor applications. Available from: http://www.pcimag.com. [Cited 12 Apr 2005].
- Saksa, T. 1998. Rauduskoivun uudistaminen luontaisesti vai viljellen. [Comparing the Regeneration Methods of Silver Birch - Natural Regeneration or Planting]. In: Niemistö, P. & Väärä, T. (eds.). Rauduskoivu tänään ja tulevaisuudessa. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 668. p. 5-10. (In Finnish).
- Salin, J-G. 2002. The timber final moisture content variation as a function of the natural variation in wood properties and of the position in the kiln load. An evaluation using simulation models. Proceedings of the 4th European COST E15 workshop on wood drying. 10 p.
- Salmi, J. 1987. Koivun puuaineen ominaisuudet ja käyttö. [Wood properties and uses of birch]. Sorbifolia 18(3): 123-132. (In Finnish).
- Saramäki, J. & Hytönen, J. 2004. Nutritional status and development of mixed plantations of silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) and downy birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.) on former agricultural soils. Baltic Forestry 10(1): 2-11.
- Schmidt, E.L., Cassens, D.L. & Jordan, B.A. 2001. Control of graystain in yellow-poplar lumber by log fumigation with sulfuryl fluoride. Forest Products Journal 51(9): 50-52.
- Sehlstedt-Persson, S.M.B. 1995. High temperature drying of Scots pine. A comparison between HT- and LT-drying. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 53: 55-59.
- 2000. The effect of drying temperature on subsequent moisture and dimensional changes for Scots pine and Norway spruce. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 58: 353.
- 2001. The effect of extractive content on moisture diffusion properties for Scots pine and Norway spruce. Proceedings of the 3rd European COST E15 workshop on wood drying, 11-13 June 2001, Helsinki. 10 p.
- Siegle, H. 1967. Microbiological and biochemical aspects of heartwood stain in *Betula* papyrifera Marsh. Canadian Journal of Botany 45(2): 147-154.
- Skaar, C. 1988. Wood-water relations. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York. 283 p.
- Smith, W.B. & Herdman, D.J. 1996. An investigation of board color and sticker stain in hard maple. Proceedings of the 5th international IUFRO wood drying conference. p. 325-334.
- , Smith, A. & Neuhauser, E.F. 1994. Radio-frequency vacuum drying of red oak. Profitable solutions for quality drying of softwoods and hardwoods, proceedings. May 25-27, 1994. Charlotte, North Carolina. Forest Products Society. p. 101-108.
- Yeo, H., Rappold, P., Herdman, D. & Montoney, D. 2002. [Internet site].Wood color and stain control. In: Quality drying: the key to profitable manufacturing. September 23-25, 2002. Montreal, Canada. Available from: http://www.forestprod.org. [Cited 12 Apr 2005].
- Sonninen, H. 2001. Koivun kuumakuivaus; taustaa ja käytännön kokemuksia. [High temperature drying of birch; background and practical experiences]. In: Riekkinen, M. & Kärki, T. (eds.). Koivun kuivausmenetelmät 2000-vuosituhannelle. Seminaaripäivän esitelmät. Finnish For. Res. Inst., Research Paper 810. p. 35-40.
- Stenudd, S. 2002. On colour changes during kiln drying of hardwood with special reference to beech and birch. Linköping Studies in Science and Technology. Thesis No. 997. 68 p.
- 2003. Colour response of silver birch to press drying. Proceedings of the 8th international IUFRO wood drying conference. p. 449-454.

- 2004. Color response in silver birch during kiln-drying. Forest Products Journal 54(6): 31-36.
- Sterner, L-G. & Hedenberg, Ö. 2003. Genetic parameters of wood, fibre, stem quality and growth traits in a clone test with Betula pendula. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 18: 103-110.
- Stevens, W.C. 1963. The transverse shrinkage of wood. Forest Products Journal 13(9): 386-389.
- Straze, A., Oven, P., Zupancic, M. & Gorisek, Z. 2003. Colour changes of ash wood (Fraxinus excelsior L.) during conventional drying. Proceedings of the 8th international IUFRO wood drying conference. p. 465-469.
- Sundqvist, B. 2002*a*. Wood color control during kiln-drying. Forest Products Journal 52(2): 30-37.
- 2002b. Color response of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*), Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) and birch (*Betula pubescens*) subjected to heat treatment in capillary phase. Holz als Rohund Werkstoff 60: 106-114.
- Taylor, F.W. 1997. Prevention of stain associated with kiln drying. In: Prevention of discolorations in hardwood and softwood logs and lumber. Forest Products Society, Madison, WI, 1997. p. 10-11.
- Terziev, N. 1995. Migration of low-molecular sugars and nitrogen in *Pinus sylvestris* L. during kiln and air drying. Holzforschung 49(6): 565-574.
- Velling, P. 1979. Wood density in two *Betula pendula* Roth Progeny trials. Folia Forestalia 416: 1-24. (In Finnish with English summary).
- Verkasalo, E. 1993. Koivupuutavaran vikaantuminen pitkittyneessä metsävarastoinnissa ja sen vaikutus viilun saantoon, laatuun ja arvoon. Summary: Deterioration of birch timber during prolonged storage in the forest and its effect on the yield, quality and value of rotary-cut veneer. Folia Forestalia 806: 1-31.
- 1998. Raudus- ja hieskoivun laatu puuaineen tiheyden perusteella arvioituna. [Quality of silver birch and white birch based on the wood density]. In: Niemistö, P. & Väärä, T. (eds.). Rauduskoivu tänään ja tulevaisuudessa. Finnish For. Res. Inst., Research Paper 668. p 127-140. (In Finnish).
- 1999. Haavan ominaisuudet ja käyttömahdollisuudet mekaanisessa puunjalostuksessa.
 [Propeties and possibilities of use of aspen in mechanical wood processing]. In: Hynynen, J. & Viherä-Aarnio, A. (eds.). Haapa - monimuotoisuutta metsään ja metsätalouteen. Vantaan tutkimuskeskuksen tutkimuspäivä Tammisaaressa 12.11.1998.
 Finnish For. Res. Inst., Research Papers 725. p. 107-122. (In Finnish).
- Wagenführ, R. 1996. Holzatlas. [Wood Atlas]. VEB Fachbuchverlag Leipzig. 4th ed. 688 p. (In German).
- Ward, J.C. & Zeikus, J.G. 1980. Bacteriological, chemical and physical properties of wetwood in living trees. In: Bauch, J. (ed.). Natural variations of wood properties. Mitteilungen der Bundesforschungsanstalt für Holz- und Holzwirtschaft Nr. 131. Max Wiedehusen Verlag, Hamburg-Reinbek. p. 133-166.
- Welling, J. 2004. "Fit for purpose" Will good drying quality help to secure the market share of sawn timber? Proceedings of the 5th European COST E15 workshop on wood drying. 5 p.
- Wengert, E.M. 1997. Causes and cures for stains in dried lumber: sticker stain, Chemical stain, iron stain, and blue stain. In: Prevention of discolorations in hardwood and softwood logs and lumber. Forest Products Society, Madison, WI, 1997. p. 12-16.

- Wilkins, A.P. & Stamp, C.M. 1990. Relationship between wood colour, silvicultural treatment and rate of growth in *Eucalyptus grandis* Hill (Maiden). Wood Science and Technology 24: 297-304.
- Wong, B.L., Baggett, K.L. & Rye, A.H. 2003. Seasonal patterns of reserve and soluble carbohydrates in mature sugar maple (*Acer saccharum*). Canadian Journal of Botany 81: 780-788.
- Wood Handbook Wood as an engineering material. 1999. Gen. Tech. Rep. FPL–GTR– 113. Madison, WI: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory. 463 p.
- Yazaki, Y., Bauch, J. & Endeward, R. 1985. Extractive components responsible for the discoloration of ilomba wood (*Pycnanthus angolensis* Exell.). Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 43(9): 359-363.
- Yeo, H. & Smith, W.B. 2003. Effect of temperature and moisture content on the discolouration of hard maple lumber. Proceedings of the 8th international IUFRO wood drying conference. p. 455-458.
- Yu, Z. & Dahlgren, A. 2000. Evaluation of methods for measuring polyphenols in conifer foliage. Journal of Chemical Ecology 26(9): 2119- 2140.
- Zhang, S.Y. 1995. Effect of growth rate on wood specific gravity and selected mechanical properties in individual species from distinct wood categories. Wood Science and Technology 29: 451-465.
- Zobel, B.J. & Sprague, J.R. 1998. Juvenile wood in forest trees. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York. 300 p.
- & van Buijtenen, J.P. 1989. Wood variation its causes and control. Springer Verlag, Berlin. 363 p.

Total of 146 references